
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Chief Executive 

 
BOARD MEMBERSHIP 

 
 

Councillor Bill Woolfall (Chair) Labour 

Councillor Peter Lloyd Jones (Vice-Chair) Labour 

Councillor Colin Hughes Labour 

Councillor Noel Hutchinson Labour 

Councillor Kath Loftus Labour 

Councillor Louise Nolan Labour 

Councillor Mike Ryan Labour 

Councillor Aimee Skinner Labour 

Councillor Gareth Stockton Liberal Democrats 

Councillor Sharon Thornton Labour 

Councillor Andrea Wall Labour 

 
 

Please contact Kim Butler on 0151 511 7496 or e-mail 
kim.butler@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 

 
The next meeting of the Board is on Wednesday 13 November 2024 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal Policy 
and Performance Board 
 
Wednesday, 18 September 2024 6.30 p.m. 
Civic Suite, Town Hall, Runcorn 

Public Document Pack



ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH 
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
Part l 

 
Item No. Page No. 
  
1. MINUTES  
  

1 - 6 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS (INCLUDING PARTY WHIP 
DECLARATIONS)  

  

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest 
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later 
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary interests, to 
leave the meeting during any discussion or voting on the item. 
 

 
 

3. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 

7 - 9 

4. EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES 
 

10 - 16 

5. ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 
 

17 - 26 

6. DEVELOPMENT OF POLICY ISSUES 
 

 

 (A) REGENERATION IN HALTON   
 

27 - 29 

 (B) TOWN DEAL PROGRAMME UPDATE   
 

30 - 54 

 (C) HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION AND THE 
PRIVATE RENTAL SECTOR - UPDATE   
 

55 - 60 

 (D) STRAY DOG COLLECTION AND KENNELLING SERVICE 
   

61 - 65 

 (E) CONTROL OF FLY POSTING AND BANNER 
ADVERTISEMENTS   
 

66 - 71 

7. PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 

 

 (A) PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR 
QUARTER 4 OF 2023/24   
 

72 - 108 

 (B) PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR 
QUARTER 1 OF 2024/25   

109 - 135 

 
 
In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is required to notify those 
attending meetings of the fire evacuation procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to 
Members and instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 



ENVIRONMENT AND URBAN RENEWAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE BOARD 
 
At a meeting of the Environment and Urban Renewal Policy and Performance Board on 
Wednesday, 21 February 2024 at the Civic Suite - Town Hall, Runcorn 
 
 

 
Present: Councillors Woolfall (Chair), P. Lloyd Jones (Vice-Chair), Abbott, Ball, 
K. Loftus, L. Nolan, Ryan, Skinner, Stockton and Thornton  
 
Apologies for Absence: Councillor Hutchinson 
 
Absence declared on Council business: None  
 
Officers present: K. Butler, J. Gallagher, T. Gibbs, A. Plant and R. Taylor  
 
Also in attendance: M. Groggins (LCR Combined Authority) 
 

 

 
 
 Action 

EUR25 MINUTES  
  
  The Minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 

2023, having been circulated, were agreed and signed as a 
correct record. 

 

   
EUR26 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
  
  It was confirmed that no public questions had been 

received. 
 

   
EUR27 EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES  
  
  The Board considered the Minutes of the meetings of 

the Executive Board relevant to the Environment and Urban 
Renewal Policy and Performance Board. 
  
 RESOLVED: That the Minutes be received. 

 

   
EUR28 BUS FRANCHISING IN THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  
  
  The Board received a report from the Assistant 

Director for Bus (Liverpool City Region Combined Authority) 
which provided an overview of bus franchising in the 

 

ITEM DEALT WITH  
UNDER DUTIES  

EXERCISABLE BY THE BOARD 
 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



Liverpool City Region (LCR).  
 

Following a major public consultation in summer 
2023, the LCR Mayor made the decision to build a London-
style integrated public transport network and bring bus 
services into public control in order to improve connectivity; 
facilitate social mobility; and provide a lifeline to the most 
vulnerable.   

 
The Board also received a presentation which 

outlined the proposed objectives, the timeline for 
implementation, the change to roles and responsibilities and 
the scope and priorities of the franchise. 

 
Overall, members of the Board were in favour of the 

proposals and following discussions, further information was 
provided in answer to some of the questions raised:   
 

 The budget had been set for the transition work and 
further costs would be set out in the consultation; 

 Non-electric buses would be phased out in line with 
net zero targets; 

 The LCR will own their own depots; these would look 
very different in the future due to technology required 
to work with net zero targets; and 

 Employees would be transferred to new depot via 
TUPE. 
 
Resolved:  That Members of the Board note the 

contents of the report and presentation. 
   
EUR29 THE CORPORATE PLAN - THE BIG CONVERSATION 

ANALYSIS AND THE WAY FORWARD 
 

  
 The Board received a report from the Corporate 

Director, Chief Executive’s Delivery Unit, which gave an 
update on ‘The Big Conversation’, since it was presented at 
the last meeting in November 2023.  The report shared the 
analysis of the consultation and outlined the next steps.   

 
The report set out the five themes which had all been 

scored highly by stakeholders in terms of what they deemed 
to be a priority: 

 

 Improving health, promoting wellbeing and supporting 
greater independence – 93%; 

 Building a strong, sustainable local economy – 91%; 

 Supporting children, young people and families – 
89%; 

 Tackling inequality, helping those who were most in 

 

Page 2



need – 84%; and  

 Working towards a greener future – 78%. 
 

   In addition to these, stakeholders were asked to 
identify any additional themes which they felt were 
significant and those were the environment, local economy 
and housing.  This feedback resulted in a sixth priority being 
created called “Place and Community”.   
 
 Members were advised that the consultation closed 
on 30 November 2023 and the total number of responses 
received was 1,076; an analysis of the feedback was 
outlined in the report.   
  
 A copy of the draft Corporate Plan was emailed to 
Members on 6 February 2024 for information and this would 
be presented to the Executive Board for approval on 22 
February 2024. Thereafter, it would be launched in April 
2024. 
 

Members were also advised that following the launch, 
a further piece of work would be carried out, linked to the 
performance management framework, and this would be 
presented to future Policy and Performance Boards. 

 
 RESOLVED:  That: 
 

1) the report be noted; and 
 

2) the Board continues to endorse the approach to 
facilitate the implementation of a new Corporate Plan. 

 
   
EUR30 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME  
  
  The Board considered a report of the Executive 

Director, Environment and Regeneration that sought 
approval from the Board on the proposed update to the 
Local Development Scheme (LDS) (Appendix 1).  The LDS 
underpinned Halton’s Delivery and Allocations Local Plan 
which provided a timetable for a number of Supplementary 
Planning Documents due in 2023/24. 

 In accordance with the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, Local Authorities were required to 
prepare, maintain and publish information on LDS on an 
annual basis.  Once the LDS had been approved by the 
Council’s Executive Board, it would be made available on its 
website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



 RESOLVED: That the Halton Borough Council Local 
Development Scheme 2021 Revision (Appendix 1) be 
endorsed and presented to Executive Board for approval. 

Executive Director 
Environment & 
Regeneration  

   
EUR31 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STRATEGY  
  
  The Board considered a report of the 

Executive Director, Environment and Regeneration that 
sought approval on the proposed draft Electric Vehicle 
Charging Point (ECP) Strategy.   

 
 The Strategy set out the ECP infrastructure 
implementation plan, which would help the Council’s long-
term commitment to reach net zero in 2041.  It also explored 
a pathway to meet the future needs of residents and 
businesses in the Borough. 
 
 Members were advised that endorsement of the 
Strategy would enable officers to seek external funding 
opportunities from the Liverpool City Region (LCR). 
 
 The report outlined the vision for Halton’s ECP 
Strategy which would identify future need and delivery 
strategy for electric vehicle charging infrastructure within the 
Borough. By 2032, it was estimated that Halton would 
require 1520 residential chargepoint sockets across 312 
locations; 496 destination chargepoints across 17 catchment 
areas (long stay hubs such as hospitals and schools); and 
228 rapid chargers over 18 catchment areas (short stay 
hubs such as supermarkets and fuel stations).  The Strategy 
set out how these may be distributed and delivered.   
 

Members of the Board expressed concerns and 
frustrations regarding the inequality of the EVC’s, for 
example, those on lower incomes or those who do not have 
driveways to install chargers at their homes; those that 
abuse the charging bays by parking non-electric cars in the 
bays; and the price variants of EVC’s across the Borough.   

 
 Members were advised that the Council had worked 
with operators to cap the charges where possible to be as 
equable as possible, however, there was no Government 
legislation to enforce that but the pilot areas would be 
monitored.  The Council had also worked with Scottish 
Power Energy Networks to install charging points in Runcorn 
Old Town where there was a severe lack of energy supply 
and funding had been secured with the LCR to upgrade sub-
stations.  
 
 RESOLVED:  That the Board endorse the Electric 

 

Page 4



Vehicle Charging Point Strategy.    
   
EUR32 CLIMATE CHANGE SPD – SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 

DOCUMENT 
 

  
 Members of the Board received a report from the 

Executive Director, Environment and Regeneration, 
regarding the draft Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) on Climate Change.   

 
The Council adopted a revised Climate Change 

Strategy in April 2022 which set a target to be net zero by 
2040.  It set out both short-term and long-term actions.  To 
date, the Council had successfully implemented a range of 
actions aimed at reducing its carbon footprint and the 
Climate Change SPD would provide a useful tool in assisting 
the Council to meet the targets set out in the action plan.  
The SPD would also introduce further guidance on 
measures to mitigate the negative impacts of climate change 
that may otherwise result from new development proposals. 
 
 In accordance with the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement and the regulations set out in the 
Town and Country Planning Act, the Council was required to 
consult on the SPD for a minimum of 28 days.  It would also 
need to produce an Adoption Statement as outlined in the 
report.  Thereafter, the SPD would require approval from the 
Council’s Executive Board. 
 
 RESOLVED:  That the Board endorse the draft SPD 
for public consultation. 

 

   
EUR33 HALTON DELIVERY AND ALLOCATIONS LOCAL PLAN 

(DALP) AUTHORITY MONITORING REPORT (AMR) 
(01/04/2022 TO 31/03/2023); HOUSING AMR (01/04/2014 
TO 31/03/2023); ECONOMY AMR (01/04/2014 TO 
31/03/2023) 

 

  
 The Board received the Draft Authority Monitoring 

Reports (AMR) from the Executive Director, Environment 
and Regeneration which provided a progress update on the 
Halton Delivery and Allocations Local Plan (DALP) policies 
for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023.  It also 
contained the Housing AMR and the Economy AMR. 
 
 Local planning authorities were required to publish 
information, at least annually, that showed progress with 
local plan preparation.  They also needed to report any 
activity relating to the duty to co-operate, provide any 
information which may have been collected relating to 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



indicators in the plan and highlight any polices which had not 
been implemented.  
  
 RESOLVED: That the Board endorse the draft AMP’s 
so that the documents can be made publicly available and 
published on the Council’s website. 

 
 
 
Executive Director 
Environment & 
Regeneration  

   
EUR34 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT REPORT - QUARTER 3 

OF 2023/24 
 

  
 The Board received the Performance Monitoring 

Report for Quarter 3 of 2023/24. 
  
The key priorities for development of improvement in 

2023/24 were agreed by Members and included in 
Directorate Plans for the various function areas reported to 
the Board as detailed below:   
  

 Development and Investment Services; 

 Highways and Transportation, Logistics and 
Development Services; and 

 Waste and Environmental Improvement and Open 
Space Services.   

  
The reports detailed progress against service 

objectives and milestones, and performance targets and 
provided information relating to key developments and 
emerging issues that had arisen during the period. 
 

Members were asked to note the good progress on 
the projects set out in the report and also note the 
Directorate’s positive budget position as set out in pages 
448-466 of the report.    
 
 RESOLVED:  That the Quarterly 3 Performance 
Monitoring Reports be received and comments made be 
noted.   

 

   
 
 

Meeting ended at 7.35 p.m. 

Page 6



REPORT TO: 
 

Environment & Urban Renewal Policy & 
Performance Board 
 

DATE: 
 

18 September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Chief Executive 

SUBJECT: 
 

Public Question Time  

WARD(S) 
 

Boroughwide  

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  To consider any questions submitted by the Public in accordance with 
Standing Order 34(9).  
 

1.2 Details of any questions received will be circulated at the meeting. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That any questions received be dealt with. 
 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 
 

Standing Order 34(9) states that Public Questions shall be dealt with 
as follows:- 
 
(i)  A total of 30 minutes will be allocated for dealing with questions 

from members of the public who are residents of the Borough, to 
ask questions at meetings of the Policy and Performance Boards. 

  
(ii)  Members of the public can ask questions on any matter relating to 

the agenda. 
 
(iii)  Members of the public can ask questions. Written notice of 

questions must be given by 4.00 pm on the working day prior to 
the date of the meeting to the Committee Services Manager. At 
any one meeting no person/organisation may submit more than 
one question. 

 
(iv)  One supplementary question (relating to the original question) 

may be asked by the questioner, which may or may not be 
answered at the meeting. 

 
(v) The Chair or proper officer may reject a question if it:- 
 

 Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough; 

 Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, abusive or racist; 

 Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



a meeting of the Council in the past six months; or 

 Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 
(vi)  In the interests of natural justice, public questions cannot relate to 

a planning or licensing application or to any matter which is not 
dealt with in the public part of a meeting. 

 
(vii) The Chair will ask for people to indicate that they wish to ask a 

question. 
 
(viii) PLEASE NOTE that the maximum amount of time each 

questioner will be allowed is 3 minutes. 
 
(ix) If you do not receive a response at the meeting, a Council Officer 

will ask for your name and address and make sure that you 
receive a written response. 

 
 Please bear in mind that public question time lasts for a maximum 

of 30 minutes. To help in making the most of this opportunity to 
speak:- 

 

 Please keep your questions as concise as possible. 
 

 Please do not repeat or make statements on earlier 
questions as this reduces the time available for other 
issues to be raised.  

 

 Please note public question time is not intended for debate 
– issues raised will be responded to either at the meeting 
or in writing at a later date. 

 
4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

None identified. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 None identified. 
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES  
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
 
None identified. 
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
 
None identified. 
 

Page 8



 
6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 

 
None identified. 
 

6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 
 
None identified. 
 

6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 
 
None identified. 
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
 
None identified. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 None. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 None identified. 
 

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 
 

None identified. 

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

None under the meaning of the Act. 
 

 

Page 9



REPORT TO: 
 

Environment & Urban Renewal Policy & 
Performance Board 
 

DATE: 
 

18 September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Chief Executive 

SUBJECT: 
 

Executive Board Minutes 

WARD(S) 
 

Boroughwide  

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  The Minutes relating to the relevant Portfolio which have been 
considered by the Executive Board are attached at Appendix 1 for 
information. 
 

1.2 
 

The Minutes are submitted to inform the Policy and Performance 
Board of decisions taken in their area. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Minutes be noted. 
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

None. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 None.  
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES  
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
 
None. 
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
 
None.  
 

6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 
 
None.  
 

6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 
 
None.  

Page 10 Agenda Item 4



6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 
 
None.  
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
 
None.  
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 None.  
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 None.  
 

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 
 

None. 
 

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

None under the meaning of the Act. 
 

 

Page 11



APPENDIX 1 
 
Extract of Executive Board Minutes relevant to the Environment & Urban 
Renewal Policy and Performance Board 
 
 
EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 14 MARCH 2024  
 

EXB100 PRELIMINARY ESTIMATES FOR STREET LIGHTING ENERGY 
PROCUREMENT 
 

 
The Board considered a report of the Executive Director Environment and 

Regeneration, which sought approval for the Council to utilise Dukefield Energy 
(formerly Utilities Procurement Group UPG), as specialist Energy advisory for the 
Council’s un-metered electricity supply contract for street lighting. The current un-
metered electricity supply contract for street lighting with SSE Energy would expire on 
31 March 2024, and it was proposed that Dukefield Energy would invite tenders for a 
period of 12 and 36 months as recommended. 
  
          The Board was advised that a preliminary recent market enquiry with the current 
supplier had suggested the new rates would represent an annual decrease of up to 
18%/300k depending on the length of contract term chosen. 
  
          RESOLVED: That the Board endorse 
  

1) the use of the National Public Sector Energy Framework for the purchase of 
un-metered energy in compliance with Procurement Standing Order 1.4.1; 
 

2) that expenditure is anticipated to be in excess of £1.0m per annum; and 
 

3) that Dukefield Energy continue to be used to manage the Council’s street 
lighting energy provision. 

 
 
EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 18 APRIL 2024  
 

EXB109 PRODUCTION OF BOROUGH-WIDE HOUSING STRATEGY 
 

 
The Board considered a report of the Executive Director Environment and 

Regeneration, which sought support for the commissioning and production of a new 
Borough wide Housing Strategy and approval to undertake stakeholder engagement 
and wider community consultation as an integral part of the production process. 
  
          The Council’s previous Housing Strategy was adopted in 2013 and covered a 
period up to 2018. The Strategy was in need of comprehensive review and 
replacement and the production required the identification, gathering and analysis of 
any supporting evidence base gaps, including an up-to-date Housing Needs 
Assessment. This would be a specialist task and would be commissioned externally. 

Page 12



  
          In order to guide the commissioning, production and consultation of the Housing 
Strategy an internal officer working group was set up in 2023, including 
representatives from Halton Housing Partnership (HHP). The key early messages 
from the group and HHP were set out at Appendix A. 
  
          RESOLVED: That 
  

1) the commissioning and production of a new Borough wide Housing Strategy 
and supporting evidence base be endorsed; 
 

2) delegated authority be given to the Executive Director Environment and 
Regeneration, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Urban Renewal, to agree details of the Housing Strategy production, including 
draft documentation and activity for stakeholder engagement and wider 
community consultation; and 
 

3) upon completion of the production and consultation process, the Board will 
receive a further report seeking a recommendation to Council that the new 
Borough wide Housing Strategy be approved. 

 
 
EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 13 JUNE 2024  
 

EXB8 LONG TERM PLAN FOR TOWNS, FUNDING FOR RUNCORN 
 

 
The Board considered a report of the Executive Director, Environment and 

Regeneration, which set out details to date about the Long-Term Plan for Towns 
funding which was allocated to Runcorn in the Spring Budget 2024. 
  
          In the Spring Budget 2024, the Government announced Phase 2 of their long-
term plan for Towns programme which identified Runcorn as one of 20 additional 
towns across the country which would benefit from £19.5m endowment style funding 
to invest over a 10 year period in local priorities. 
  
          In order to access the funding Halton would need to produce a Long- Term Plan 
for Runcorn. The Government had issued guidance on 1 October 2023 which required 
each town to establish a Town Board to oversee the development of the long-term 
plan. Halton proposed to repurpose its existing Town Fund Board, in line with 
Government guidance to ensure compliance with this guidance and to avoid 
duplication. 
  
          The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) had 
released £50k of capacity funding to the Council to establish a Town Deal Board. A 
further £200k capacity funding would be issued to develop the plan which was to be 
submitted by 1 November 2024. 
  

Page 13



          Appendix 1 to the report detailed the Government list of interventions which had 
already been assessed as having a strong case for investment, value for money and 
benefit to cost ratio. 
  
          RESOLVED: That 
  

1) the Board accepts external grant funding from the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) of £19.5m in relation to the Long-Term 
Plan for Towns (LTPT); 

 
2) agree that the Council will act as Accountable Body for the LTPT Programme; 

 
3) the Executive Director, Environment and Regeneration, in consultation with the 

Deputy Leader, be authorised to amend the Towns Fund Board terms of 
reference and membership to reflect the criteria of the Long-Term Funding for 
Towns criteria; 

 
4) in consultation with the Town Deal Board, the Deputy Leader and Member of 

Parliament for Runcorn and Helsby, authority be delegated to the Executive 
Director, Environment and Regeneration, to spend the £200,000 capacity 
funding to develop a ten-year Vision and three-year Investment Plan to submit 
to Government by 1 November 2024; and 

 
5) delegate authority to the Executive Director, Environment and Regeneration 

and the Section 151 Officer, to agree and complete Funding Agreements with 
partners that will deliver the LTPT for Runcorn projects on behalf of the Council, 
as the Accountable Body for the Programme. 

 
 

EXB9 EAST RUNCORN CONNECTIVITY (ERC) PROJECT A56 
CONSTRUCTION GATEWAY 
 

 
The Board received a report of the Executive Director, Environment and 

Regeneration, which sought approval to enter into a delivery agreement and 
commence Stage 5 of the SCAPE Framework process awarding a contract to deliver 
the A56 major maintenance works to Balfour Beatty. The contract would commence 
in July subject to approval and was programmed to complete in September 2025.    
  
          RESOLVED: That 
  

1) approval be given to awarding a contract to Balfour Beatty via the SCAPE 
framework to complete the A56 Major Maintenance Scheme; 

 
2) the Director Planning and Transportation, in consultation with the Portfolio 

Holder Environment and Urban Renewal, be delegated to accept the Grant 
Funding Agreement and enable timely delivery of the contract; and 

  

Page 14



3) the Director Planning and Transportation, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder Environment and Urban Renewal, be delegated to deal with any 
matters relating to procurement and operation of this contract. 

 
 

EXB11 DELIVERING THE FREEPORT UPDATE – KEY DECISION 
 

 
The Board considered a report of the Executive Director Environment & 

Regeneration, which provided an update on the progress relating to Halton’s Freeport. 
The report sought approval to carry out due diligence investigations with a view to 
acquiring the 44-acre (of which 15 acres were water) Port of Weston site for the 
regeneration of West Runcorn. 
  
          RESOLVED: That 
 

1) the report be noted; 
 

2) the Board supports the approval to carry out due diligence investigations with 
a view to acquiring the Port of Weston Site (using Freeport funding) for the 
regeneration of West Runcorn; 

 
3) delegated authority be given to the Executive Director for Environment & 

Regeneration, in consultation with the Deputy Leader to take the necessary 
steps to progress further the Freeport in Halton as outlined in this report; 

 
4) following appropriate due diligence, the Board authorises the Director Finance 

to put in place systems to support the acquisition of land to support the 
regeneration of West Runcorn; and 

 
5) approval be sought from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities (DLHUC), via the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and 
Freeport Board, to reallocate Freeport Seed Funds for the planning and 
construction of an access road onto Port of Weston and to purchase the Port 
of Weston. 

 
 
EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 11 JULY 2024 
 
 

EXB22 REPLACEMENT CREMATOR WIDNES CREMATORIUM – KEY 
DECISION 
 

 
The Board considered a report which sought approval for the procurement and 

installation of a new cremator at Widnes Crematorium. 
  
 
 
 

Page 15



          RESOLVED: That 
  

1) delegated authority be granted to Executive Director – Environment and 
Regeneration, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Urban Renewal, to procure a replacement cremator and associated installation, 
service and maintenance contract; and 

 
2) Council be recommended to include £308,000, in the 2024/25 Capital 

Programme for the scheme, as outlined in section 5.0 of the report. 
 
 

Page 16



REPORT TO: 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal Policy and 
Performance Board 
 

DATE: 
 

18 September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Executive Director – Environment & Regeneration 

PORTFOLIO: 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal 

SUBJECT: 
 

Annual Report 2023-24 

WARD(S) 
 

All 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  To provide the Board with an annual summary of its work for the 
period 2023-24. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Annual Report contained in 
Appendix 1 be endorsed. 
 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 
 

The primary function of the Environment and Urban Renewal Policy 
and Performance Board (EUR PPB) is to focus on the work of the 
Council (and its partners) in securing environmental improvements 
and urban regeneration.  
 

3.2 
 

During the 2023-24 Municipal Year, the Board met on four 
occasions and considered a number of reports, covering a diverse 
range of subjects pertinent to the Board’s remit.  
 

3.3 
 

The PPB also received regular updates on service performance 
targets.  
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

The Board has reviewed and recommended a substantial amount of 
policy changes across a range of topics in 2023-24. These policy 
areas are set out in Appendix 1. 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising from the Annual Report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 17 Agenda Item 5



6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES  
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
 
The work of the PPB contributes towards a less polluted 
environment and helps to create a green infrastructure.  
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
 
This PPB supports the infrastructure in Halton that helps with job 
creation and sustainable transport links to employment.  
 

6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 
 
The work of the PPB supports future generations in Halton by 
ensuring a clean and safe environment and a safeguarded natural 
environment.  
 
 

6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 
 
The PPB seeks to ensure Halton is a diverse and inclusive place 
where all residents have access to public activities and spaces and 
are able to participate fully in the community. People will be more 
content to live and work in the Borough and have pride in Halton 
through a safe, inclusive, affordable, and low carbon transport 
network, and a good quality public realm and public spaces. 
 

6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 
 
This PPB scrutinised the work undertaken in bringing forward 
regeneration projects, together with seeking to improve the natural 
environment.  
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
 
The PPB  supports Halton’s residents through policies to ensure 
decent and affordable homes are available, and these are 
surrounded by safe and thriving communities. Providing active travel 
routes, seeking to tackle climate change, and promoting the quality 
of Halton’s open spaces are examples of the PPB’s work. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 None. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 None. 

Page 18



 

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 
 

There are no implications for climate change arising from this report. 

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

None under the meaning of the Act. 
 

 

Page 19



Appendix 1 
 

 
ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 

 
ENVIRONMENT AND URBAN RENEWAL 
POLICY AND PERFORMANCE BOARD 

 
 

Councillor Bill 
Woolfall 
Chairman 
 
 

The last year has been extremely busy. The Council continues 
to tackle climate change, for example promoting further phases 
of the rollout of on-street electrical vehicle charge points, 
measures to reduce energy use, and additional active travel 
routes linking places of work, schools, and retail centres. It is 
very positive to be able to report that air quality in Widnes has 
improved to the point that the air quality management areas 
(AQMA) established in 2011 can be revoked. Furthermore, in 
total over £5 million has been invested in improving the 
environmental quality of Halton via the Environment Fund. Road 
safety remains a priority, Halton had achieved its performance 
targets as set by the Department of Transport, and road 
casualties remain below pre-covid levels when journeys and 
traffic flows were comparable to now. 
 
Regeneration and investment in infrastructure continue at pace. 
The Council has big ambitions that are set out in its development 
pipelines for schemes and transport infrastructure. The Council 
remains concerned about the quality of its housing stock. It is 
imperative that homes are safe and affordable. The Board has 
therefore scrutinised specific forms of accommodation, like 
houses of multiple occupation (HMOs), and recognises that 
whilst this type of accommodation does have a role in a 
functional housing market, it must still offer good quality 
accommodation to those who reside in it, and not cause a 
nuisance to its neighbours. 
 
All this work is undertaken against a backdrop of ever tighter 
budgets in the public sector. The Council has therefore 
embarked on a Transformation Programme to look at areas that 
are most significant in budgetary terms. 
 
I am grateful to PPB Members for their valuable contributions at 
our meetings. The PPB plays a vital role in informing and 
improving the Council’s policies to protect and enhance the local 
environment, drive forward regeneration, and ensure value for 
money in the delivery of the local services provided by the 
Council. I am delighted that the Board continues to shape and 
champion initiatives such as those outlined in this report. 
 
 

Page 20



MEMBERSHIP AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The Board comprised eleven Councillors: - 
 
Councillor Bill Woolfall (Chairman) 
Councillor Peter Lloyd Jones (Vice Chair) 
Councillor John Abbott 
Councillor Angela Ball 
Councillor Noel Hutchinson 
Councillor Kath Loftus 
Councillor Louise Nolan 
Councillor Mike Ryan  
Councillor Aimee Skinner 
Councillor Gareth Stockton 
Cllr Sharon Thornton 
 
 
The primary function of the Environment and Urban Renewal Policy and Performance 
Board (EUR PPB) is to focus on the work of the Council and its partners in enhancing the 
local environment and championing the urban renewal / regeneration of Halton. The Board 
reviews Executive Board decisions relevant to its remit and monitors the general activities 
and performance of Council departments against service plans.  
 
The Board scrutinises performance and formulates policy in relation to the following areas: 
 

 Highways, Transportation and Logistics (including road maintenance, street, lighting, 
road safety, traffic management, supported bus services and flood risk management) 

 Wate Management and Waste Strategy 

 Environment Services, Parks & Countryside, Cemeteries & Crematoria 

 All aspects of the Council’s Planning Policies that comprise the Development Plan 

 Economic Regeneration, Business Development and Tourism Strategies 

 Major Schemes 

 Derelict / Contaminated Land Strategy 

 Biodiversity 

 Climate Change 

 Transportation Policies (Local Transport Plan) 

 Housing Strategic Policy Area renewal, availability, choice and mix. 

 Urban renewal aspects of the Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Plan 

 Physical Environment including powers and duties of Lead Local Flood Authorities, 

 Regulatory Services 

 Natural Environment  
 

Page 21



REVIEW OF THE YEAR 
 
The Board met 4 times during the Municipal Year 2023/24:  
 

 21 June 2023 

 20 September 2023 

 15 November 2023 

 21 February 2024 
 
Some of the main activities and issues that have come before the Board during the year 
are set out below. 
 

ENVIRONMENT 
 

Revocation of Halton’s Air Quality Management Areas in Widnes Town Centre  
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) were identified in 2011 when routine monitoring 
identified exceedances of the Nitrogen Dioxide limits in specific locations, attributed to town 
centre congestion in Widnes and emissions from road vehicles. Notable improvements to 
traffic flow in the town centre resulted from the Mersey Gateway Bridge and the re-opening 
of Silver Jubilee Bridge. Other influences that contributed to the reduced levels of pollutants 
include changing the sequencing of traffic lights to reduce stationary traffic, and 
improvements in vehicle emission technology. Air quality has improved over the last 5 
years. Public Health undertook a four-week public consultation in March 2023. The 
consultation ran from 17 May 2023 – 7 June 2023 and received 7 responses. The Board 
consequentially recommended the revocation of the AQMAs. The Council will continue to 
follow the air quality action plan. 
 
House of Multiple Occupation (HMO)  
The Board continued its work on the HMO Action Plan, that was endorsed at the February 
2023 Board. The Council has gathered intelligence to understand how many HMOs are in 
the borough. Meta Street and ORS were both commissioned to undertake research and 
assess the current level of private rent properties / HMOs, together with tenure change 
over time, information on the current level of unlicensed smaller HMO’s (3-4 occupants), 
and information on housing stressors (including antisocial behaviour, crime, deprivation), 
and population changes including migration linked to the private rented sector.  
 
The independent study undertaken by Meta Street and Opinion Research Services (ORS) 
concluded that there was only a small number of HMOs within the West Bank ward, 
however there was a high number of private rental properties compared to the rest of the 
borough. The survey response rate was 45% and a detailed analysis was carried out on 
the properties that did not respond. 
 
The Board achieved the adopted of ‘The Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) Amenity 
Standards for Licensed Premises’ policy (adopted on 14 September 23 by the Executive 
Board). In addition, the ‘Houses of Multiple Occupation SPD (Supplementary Planning 
Document)’ was agreed for public consultation. The document would apply to any planning 
applications submitted to create large HMOs and would introduce planning controls to 
ensure the amenity of neighbours was protected.  
 
 

Page 22



Environmental Fund 
The Runcorn Thermal Power Station is subject to a legal agreement with a provision that 
the Council receives an annual payment into an ‘Environmental Fund for Halton’ based on 
every tonne of fuel received and processed. To September 2023 the fund had generated 
£5,924,470 and some of the projects that had benefitted from the funds are: 

 Prescot Road playing fields – boundary and car park improvements. 

 Wood Lane Pond – Improvements of open spaces facilities.  

 Runcorn Town Hall Park – Install traditional fencing to improve security. 

 Renewable energy – installation of solar farm at former St Michaels golf course.  

 Victoria Park Glasshouse – restoration of Victorian style structure. 

 War memorials conservation works to memorials in Hale, Runcorn and Widnes.  

 Arley Drive Pitches.  

 Halton Big Forest 

 Madeline McKenna home. 

 CCTV Cameras 
 

URBAN RENEWAL 
 
Housing and Employment Land  
Annual housing and employment land monitoring surveys are undertaken by the Planning 
and Transport Department to assess the delivery of the Local Plan. Targets for the 
provision of housing and the supply of employment land are set out in the Local Plan: 350 
dwellings (net gain) per annum and 180ha of land for development purposes between 2014 
– 2037.  
 
In April 2023, 368 housing completions with 6 losses / demolitions with a net dwelling gain 
of 362 units, 74% Runcorn and 26% Widnes. Employment land monitoring recorded the 
take up of 6.7ha in Widnes. It is important that a supply of land for development is 
maintained to meet the needs of Halton’s communities. 
 
 
Local Development Scheme 
LDS underpinned Halton’s Delivery and Allocations Plan that provided a timetable for a 
number of Supplementary Planning Documents in 23/24. Once approved by Executive 
Board it would be made available on the council’s website. 
 
 
Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
The revised Climate Change Strategy adopted in April 2022 set a target to be net zero by 
2040, setting out both short term and long-term actions. The Council had successfully 
implemented a range of actions aimed at reducing the carbon footprint, and these actions 
included the production of a Climate Change SPD which would be a useful tool in assisting 
the Council to meet the targets set out in the Climate Change Strategy Action Plan. Whilst 
also introducing further guidance on measures to mitigate the negative impacts of climate 
change that may otherwise result from new development proposals. The Board endorsed a 
public consultation on the draft SPD, with a view to then seeking approval for the SPD from 
Executive Board. 
 
 

Page 23



Delivery and Allocations Local Plan (DALP) Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
The Planning Acts require information to be published annually on the progress of local 
plan preparation, duty to co-operate, and also report on indicators in the Local Plan. The 
Board received and reviewed the latest AMR. 
  

TRANSPORT 
 
Infrastructure Update 
At its meeting in June 2023, the Board reviewed the schemes to help improve the 
borough’s transport infrastructure: 

 Runcorn East Station Improvements  

 Runcorn Station Quarter Station Building Improvements 

 Floodlighting and Maintenance on Silver jubilee Bridge 

 Refurbishment of Busway Viaducts  

 West Bank Waterloo Road Slip Road – Widnes Loops  

 A533 / M56 Overbridge Preston Brook – Bridge replacement  

 Dukesfield / Runcorn Station Quarter Active Travel Link  

 Busway Halton Lea to Murdishaw Active Travel Link  

 Busway Murdishaw to Whitehouse and Norton Active Travel Link 

 Busway Norton-Castlefields / Halton Lea Active Travel Link in design. 

 Widnes Town Centre – Improvement to footway widths on North Albert Road 
 
Future transport pipeline projects include the following;  

 Runcorn Station Building,  

 Wilmere Lane Slips HE – address current congestion issues. 

 Hough Green and Widnes Stations – Address current congestion issues. 

 Replacement rail bridge Ditton / Halebank – Improved Access 

 3MG Employment links – Encourage sustainable transport and access to 
employment and housing areas. 

 Daresbury A558 Dualling – reducing congestion; improving access to Enterprise 
Zone and development sites in the East Runcorn. 

 Whitehouse enabling infrastructure – create opportunities in east Runcorn area, 
reducing traffic impacts e.g. HGV routes. 

 Local cycling and Walking infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) – Development of plan, car 
free routes, health promotion, improved connectivity. 

 Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy – reduced emissions, reducing health 
inequalities, climate change. 

 Decarbonising the Fleet. 

 Halton bus routes. 

 Park and ride facilities. 
 
Withdrawal of 62 Bus Service Monday – Friday 
The Board received a petition against the withdrawal of the 62 Bus Service serving Moore 
Village. This followed the bus operator giving notice to withdraw the no. 62 service. The 
current operator’s decision was on the basis the service operated at a loss and therefore 
no longer commercially viable. The Board noted that the Council provides a level of public 
funding subsidy towards the operating costs under a “de minimis” arrangement. A further 
tender exercise was completed due to no close alternative bus routes for Moore. Following 
the tender, Ashcroft Travel were awarded the contract to provide a service which would 

Page 24



operate a similar timetable starting 25th September 23. Funding was accessed from the 
Mersey Gateway Sustainable Travel Fund. The Board noted it is imperative that passenger 
use continues to be encouraged to ensure this new service remains viable.  
 
Annual Road Traffic Collision and Casualty report 
The Board received a report on the Department of Transport’s annual statistics for road 
safety. This report compared figures from 2022 with previous years. The figures cover 
killed or seriously injured (KSI) numbers, and it was noted that the number of adult and 
child casualties increased slightly. However, due to the low numbers recorded in general 
on an annual basis in Halton, this number did tend fluctuate from year to year. It was noted 
that post-Covid casualty numbers had mirrored the increase in traffic levels. Halton’s 
performance target was achieved. There were 157 Road traffic collisions involving personal 
injury within Halton, 9 more than previous year. The incidents resulted in 188 casualties, a 
7% increase on 2021 figure, but 24% below 2019 when traffic levels where comparable. 
 
Road Safety team continue to cover traffic reduction schemes, road safety education, 
training and publicity as well as engaging with Cheshire Police to target effective 
enforcement action.  The Board noted the planned initiatives: 

·       Use of “Smiley” Speed Indicative Device/Sign (SiDs) for speed analysis. 

·       Speed Camera A562. 

·       Gyratory Red Light Camera. 

·       Additional Mobile Speed Camera Sites. 

·       Analysis Collision Sites. 

·       Safer Active Travel options. 

·       Education of drivers and at-risk groups, for examples in Schools 

 
Bus Franchising in LCR 
Following public consultation in Summer 2023, the City Region Mayor made the decision to 
build a London style integrated public transport network and bring bus services into public 
control to improve connectivity; facilitate social mobility and provide a lifeline to the most 
vulnerable. Proposed objectives of the scheme were discussed along with the timeline for 
implementation, and the change to roles and responsibilities, plus the scope and priorities 
of the franchise. A budget had been set for the transition work and further costs would be 
consulted upon. Non-electric buses would be phased out in line with net zero targets. LCR 
would own their own depots which would look differently in the future due to the technology 
required to work with net zero targets. Employees would be transferred across to the new 
set-up via TUPE. 
 
Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy 
This strategy sets out electric vehicle charging point infrastructure implementation plan, 
that would help the Council’s long-term commitment to reach net zero by 2040, whilst also 
exploring a pathway to meet the future needs of residents and businesses in the Halton. 
The Board endorsement the strategy, which would allow officers to seek external funding 
opportunities from the LCR and other sources. The report outlined the vision for Halton’s 
electric vehicle charging point network, identifying future need and delivery for electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure. By 2032 it was estimated that Halton would require 1520 
residential charge point sockets across 312 locations: 496 destination charge points across 
17 catchment areas (long stay hubs such as hospitals and schools) and 228 rapid chargers 

Page 25



over 18 catchment areas (short stay hubs such as supermarkets and fuel stations). 
 
The Board noted the risk of inequality relating to electric vehicles (EVs), for example those 
on lower incomes, or those who do not have driveways upon which to install chargers at 
their homes, and those that do not own an EV but park in the charging bay, and 
inconsistencies in the price charged for electricity by the operator. Officers had worked with 
operators to cap charges, where possible, to be as equable as possible, but without 
government legislation this can be difficult to control. Work had been carried out in Runcorn 
Old Town by Scottish Power Energy Networks to installed charging points, it was noted that 
the grid did need to be reinforced in places to cater for predicted increases in demand in 
power. Funding was being looked at to upgrade substations.  
 

DURING 2024/25 THE BOARD PLANS TO FOCUS ON:  
 
Key themes started in 2022/23 will run on into the coming year. 
 

 Responding to Climate Change  

 Refreshing the Council’s Housing Strategy 

 Transformation Programme 

 Improving performance indicators with negative trends. 
 

 
Contact Officer for the Board 
 
Members of the public are welcome at the meetings of the Board. If you would like to 
know where and when meetings are to be held or if you would like any more 
information about the Board or its work please contact Tim Gibbs, Operational 
Director, Policy, Planning and Transportation Department on 0151 511 7664 or via 
email tim.gibbs@halton.gov.uk  

 
 

Page 26

mailto:tim.gibbs@halton.gov.uk


REPORT TO: 

 

Environment and Urban Renewal Policy and 
Performance Board 
 

DATE: 

 

18th September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 

 

Executive Director - Environment and Regeneration  
 

PORTFOLIO: 

 

Deputy Leader 

SUBJECT: 

 

Regeneration in Halton 

WARD(S) 

 

Borough wide 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  The Deputy Leader and Director Economy, Enterprise and Property 
will provide a presentation on Regeneration in Halton. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That 
 

Members are requested to note the presentations. 

 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 
 

The first part of the presentation will provide an update on the 
Runcorn Town Plan and the seven projects contained within it. 
 

3.2 
 

The Deputy Leader will also provide further details on the emerging 
proposals for the Runcorn Long Term Plan funding, which was 
announced earlier this year. 
 

3.3 
 

A separate written report is provided elsewhere on the agenda.  

3.4 
 

The second part of the presentation will focus on key regeneration 
sites in Widnes to include: 
 

 Widnes Town Centre; including the Kingsway Quarter; The 
Widnes Waterfront; The Multi Modal Gateway 3MG and HBC 
Field, including the recently designated Freeport. 

  
3.5 
 

This part of the presentation will comprise a PowerPoint 
presentation with slides.  
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

Halton’s Pipeline and existing projects will feed into a Loal Growth 
Plan required by government which will outline Halton’s future 
investment priorities. 

Page 27 Agenda Item 6a



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications identified at this stage. 
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S  
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 

Independence 
Projects in the Town Deal prospectus include an Education and 
Health Hub.  
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 

 
The presentation will provide an update on projects that support the 
Council’s economic growth priorities. 
 

6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 

 
Projects in the Town Deal Investment Plan include a youth hub.  
 

6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 

 
The presentation will outline examples of projects which bring 
services closer to the people who need them most. 
 

6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 

 
Many of the regeneration projects and programmes described focus 
on enhancements to the quality of the environment. 
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 

 
Proposals outlined in the Long-Term Plan for Runcorn re-affirm the 
importance of ensuring that our community contributes to the design 
and delivery of services. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 There are no risks identified with this and delivery of projects. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

 
8.1 The economic schemes identified will undergo an Equality Impact 

Assessment. 
 

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 
 

The proposals outlined in the presentation focus on local economic 
growth including the development of sustainable town centres, as 
well as the delivery of services that are relevant to the local 

Page 28



population.   
 

10.0 

 

 
10.1 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
None under the meaning of the Act. 
 

 

Page 29



REPORT TO: 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal Policy & 
Performance Board 
 

DATE: 
 

18th September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Executive Director - Environment and Regeneration 
 

PORTFOLIO: 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal  
 

SUBJECT: 
 

Town Deal Programme Update 
 

WARD(S) 
 

Mersey and Weston 

 
1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 
 
 
 
1.2 

The purpose of this report is to update the Board on the delivery 
and monitoring of the Town Deal (Reconnecting Runcorn) 
Programme.  
 
The Report covers an overview of the programme, funding 
allocation and period, spend and progress to date on individual 
schemes. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Board notes the content of the 
Report. 
 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
3.5 
 
 

Reconnecting Runcorn Programme Overview 
The Reconnecting Runcorn programme is a government 
allocation from the Towns Fund of £23.6 million running to March 
2026 for the redevelopment and improved connectivity of the Old 
Town area of Runcorn.  
 
The Programme delivery is being led by the Regeneration Team, 
along with internal and external project leads, and the compliance 
and monitoring by the Programmes Office.  
 
An overview is provided for each of the eight projects covered by 
the programme, highlighting progress to date and plans for 
delivery in the remaining period. 
 
Funding is drawn down based on a spending profile or forecast 
and monitoring reports are required to be submitted to 
Government biannually in May and October.  
 
Budgets estimated at the start of the programme are now under 
pressure due to cost inflation. Progress was fairly slow in the 
early stages, but schemes are picking up momentum now and 

Page 30 Agenda Item 6b



 
 
3.6 
 
 
 
3.7 
 
 
 
 
3.8 

many are in active delivery – see below. 
 
The delivery team, along with the Director, are mapping risk in 
more granular detail at this stage and a full risk analysis will be 
presented to the Town Deal Board in September. 
 
A link is included here to a short award-winning film which 
highlights the key aspects of the programme – 
https://youtu.be/Hkgv_f9QYzQ - and an overview presentation at 
Appendix 1 which includes images of each project.  
 
For further information, regular updates and press coverage, 
please visit www.reconnectingruncorn.info 

 
3.9 
 
3.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.11 
 
 
 
 
 
3.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.13 
 
 
 
 
 
3.14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Projects Overview 
 
1. Runcorn Station Quarter Enterprise Hub (Elite House) 

Project Overview: 
The creation of a co-working incubator space located close to the 
Runcorn West Coast mainline station. Providing quality office 
space, meeting room hire, event space hire and various ancillary 
uses at ground floor level such as a café, retail space and toilets.  
 
Current Position: 
HBC is currently obtaining legal and property advice to secure an 
operator for a creative start-up hub. Some essential work is being 
carried out to the building and the procurement of contractors to 
install solar PV panels on the roof. 
 
2. Unlock Runcorn – Landscaping and Visitor Centre and 

Canal Boat Trip Experience 

Project Overview: 
Unlock Runcorn is made up of two strands to open up access to 
the Canal, as well as introducing a visitor experience offering. 
Consists of two strands: 
 
Canalside Landscaping 
The creation of a landscaped area between Runcorn Station and 
the new Peace Garden/Temple. The project will also see a small 
extension to the Canal where the boats used for boat trips can be 
moored. This is being led by the Council. 
 
Canal Experience 
Led by Runcorn Locks Restoration Society (RLRS), this strand 
includes the creation of a visitor centre and café for visitors to 
enjoy and find out more about the Canal’s history, as well as the 
introduction of boat trips along a section of the Canal, and an 
events programme to run throughout the year.  
 
 

Page 31

https://youtu.be/Hkgv_f9QYzQ
http://www.reconnectingruncorn.info/


3.15 
 
 
 
 
 
3.16 
 
 
 
3.17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.20 
 
 
 
 
3.21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Position: 
Planning permission for the HBC landscaping and civil works has 
been awarded. The project is currently in RIBA stage 4 design 
and detailed drawings from the landscape architects are being 
drawn up.  
 
Runcorn Locks Restoration Society, who will operate the visitor 
centre and canal boat trips, are in the process of procuring a 
Project Manager and purchasing the boats. 
 
3. Brindley Theatre Enhancements – extended café, new 

library and outdoor performance area 

Project Overview: 
Transforming the already award-winning theatre with a refreshed 
design, making the Brindley more visible and accessible, taking 
advantage of a new outdoor public realm and vistas connecting 
to the town centre. Consists of two strands: 
 
Brindley Theatre Extension 
The extension will expand the current facilities in the Brindley 
Theatre to enable diversification and the ability to host a larger 
number of visitors. This will increase local footfall developing a 
more robust visitor economy. An additional aim is to improve the 
energy efficiency and access into the theatre. The Granville 
Street Library is set to relocate into the extension to build into the 
wider ambition of creating a cultural hub for the community. 
There will also be a well-designed large café restaurant that will 
complement the library relocation into the building. 
 
Brindley Green 
This will see the grassed area outside the Brindley Theatre 
transform into a welcoming, safe and inclusive civic space. It is 
set to include more accessible entrance points into the venue. As 
well as landscaping the green space making it suitable for 
outdoor performances, the scheme will improve the vista across 
the ‘Old Town’ of Runcorn. 
 
Current Position: 
A contractor to deliver the scheme has been confirmed and will 
start on site in August 2024. The outdoor work will follow the 
completion of the extension. 
 
4. Creative & Digital Skills Centre 

Project Overview: 
Creating a central hub on Runcorn High Street to bring together a 
number of Halton’s creative companies in one place. This hub will 
be a place for residents, especially young people, to be able to 
access creative resources. It is set to be affordable, high quality 
shared training and learning space where users can learn 
creative and digital skills, as well as providing training for future 

Page 32



 
 
3.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.25 
 
 
 
 
3.26 
 
 
3.27 
 
 
3.28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.29 
 

employment opportunities. Consists of three strands: 
 
57-59 High Street 
The development of a Victorian shop building of heritage value 
with an adjoining new build to house Youthy.com- a youth centre 
for the young people of Runcorn. This will provide a safe space 
for them to learn and grow their passions. Facilities in this centre 
are set to include a winter garden, lobby and indoor venue for 
cultural events, as well as an outdoor garden space to grow fresh 
produce. The indoor space will also allow for classroom style 
rooms, kitchen facilities for cooking classes, using some of the 
fresh produce grown in the outdoor garden, and communal areas 
for the young people to connect and socialise. 
 
63-65 High Street 
The restoration of a Victorian shop with heritage value in the 
same row of buildings as Hazlehurst and Youthy.com. The 
Centre will host Mako Create to deliver digital skills training and A 
Place for Us theatre company to offer performing arts for the local 
community. 
 
71a High Street 
The restoration of this Georgian building is the first of the creative 
and Digital Skills Hub venues to be completed. Hazlehurst 
Studios occupy this building and provide high quality studio 
space for artists and creatives, incorporating accessible ground 
floor workspaces for artists to work in and hold community 
workshops and exhibitions in.  
 
Current Position: 
Hazlehurst Arts Collective is now well established at 71a High 
Street, offering a varied and successful programme of events and 
workshops. Eighteen artists have taken up residence.  
 
A contractor for the Youth Club building (67-59 High Street) has 
been appointed and is due to start on site in mid-24. 
 
The Digital and Creative Hub in the Camden buildings (63-65 
High Street) is currently in design. 
 
5. Town Centre New Homes – High Street 

Project Overview: 
The building of 65 self-contained apartments on Runcorn High 
Street for over 55’s. This will provide much needed additional 
fully accessible quality homes, specifically designed for the older 
generation and located centrally, giving residents easier access 
to the facilities and offerings in the town centre. 

 
Current Position: 
Halton Housing Association has purchased this site, and a 

Page 33



 
 
3.30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.31 
 
 
 
 
 
3.32 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.34 
 
 
 
3.35 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.36 
 
 
 
 
 
 

contractor is now on site. Build should take about 12-18 months. 
 
6. Health & Education Hub 

Project Overview: 
A mixed-use hub delivering health and education services and 
providing access to a wide range of health, wellbeing and training 
services situated in the current Granville Library building. The 
services are aimed at families, young people and residents living 
with long-term conditions. Giving the community better access to 
health services, as well as further education and job-seeking 
support in a ‘one stop’ facility. 
 
Current Position: 
Planning permission has been submitted for the Health & 
Education Hub (current library building). The project is currently 
in RIBA stage 4 and awaiting detailed drawings, prior to procuring 
a contractor. Work is forecast to start in Autumn 2024.  
 
7. High Street Connectivity 

Project Overview: 
This project will improve the accessibility issues within Runcorn 
Old Town, as well as increasing the opportunities for active 
lifestyles, social interaction and the wellbeing of the community. 
Consists of four strands: 
 
Buddhist Temple Hall and Peace Garden 
Situated in the temple car park the Hall is set to become a new 
landmark building near Waterloo Bridge. Becoming just the third 
Ubosot Hall in the UK, it will be designed in the Northern Thai 
style. Not only will this building hold significance for the temple 
but also the community of Runcorn. 
 
In addition, an adjacent Peace Garden area is now complete and 
a Chedi monument, donated and travelling all the way from 
Thailand by boat, is now installed. 
 
Street Art 
Exploring the town of Runcorn on foot is about to become even 
more enjoyable. Between the High Street near the Bridgewater 
Canal and River Mersey, art will be displayed on the viaduct 
piers. The artist design will showcase some local history from the 
Dukesfield area, to blend art with the town’s unique history. 
 
High Street Public Realm 
Improving the connectivity, accessibility and environment on key 
routes around the town centre and in turn reduce congestion and 
pollution. In a push to improve active lifestyles within the 
community, this is set to include more pedestrian friendly paths, 
cycle lanes and a new taxi rank. 
 

Page 34



3.37 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.38 
 
 
 
3.39 
 
 
 
 
 
3.40 
 
 
 
 
3.41 
 
 
 
3.42 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.43 
 
 
 
3.44 

St Paul’s Mews 
To be able to open up the high street more, this project includes 
the demolition of a row of buildings and is being undertaken to 
allow for some of the other plans within the wider programme to 
be able to take place and be able to reach their full potential. One 
of the key project strands this feeds into is The Brindley Green. 
 
Current Position: 
The application for demolition of St Paul’s Mews has been 
approved and the procurement of a contractor is in progress.  
 
The Peace Garden completed; the Chedi was cast in Thailand 
and this together with a Buddha have arrived in the UK. There 
was a formal ceremony on Sunday 23rd June 2024 to celebrate 
the temple anniversary and Si Ra Reuk, or Pagoda Foundation 
ceremony and the Chedi is now installed. 

 
Following a community project to develop a range of heritage 
stories, a booklet has been published. An open call has been 
undertaken to procure an artist to work on a street art 
commission for the pillars of the Silver Jubilee Bridge. 
 
Public realm works on High Street will be progressed towards the 
end of the programme. The demolition of St Pauls Mews is due to 
commence in September. 
 
8. Town Centre New Homes – Rutland Street 

Project Overview: 
A community-led housing scheme to remediate land in Rutland 
Street in preparation for a newly formed Community Land Trust 
to take forward the design and build of much needed mixed-use 
community housing. 
 
Current Position: 
The Community Land Trust are in the process of commissioning 
capacity support for the design stage of this scheme. 
 
See Appendix 1 for a visual presentation of all the Projects in the 
Programme. 
 

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 

 
None 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 Ensuring robust monitoring systems are in place and all project 
delivery is compliant is key to enabling the full draw down of funding 
and avoiding any clawback. 
 

Page 35



6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
One of the Projects in the Programme will directly deliver a range 
of health care services from one central base.  
 
In addition, a number of the Projects focus on the delivery of 
cultural activity which has been proven to have a positive effect 
on health e.g. The Brindley, Hazlehurst Studios, the Creative and 
Digital Hub and the Temple.  
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
Key aspects of the Programme look to support the local creative 
sector and promote creative industries, particularly to young people. 
The Town Deal funding seeks make the ‘old town’ area of Runcorn a 
more vibrant and sustainable area for residents, businesses and 
visitors, in particular via the Enterprise Hub at Elite House. 
 

6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 
Youth.Com, led by Power in Partnership will provide a one stop 
base for young people in the ‘old town’ area offering a range of free 
activities and educational opportunities. The Creative and Digital 
Skills Hub will showcase the creative industries to young people, 
encouraging them to take up courses and qualifications. And the 
Health and Education Hub will link into this to support young people 
with training and careers support. 
 

6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 
The Town Deal Programme includes the delivery of a range of free 
activities and services for local residents. 
 
The housing schemes have at their core affordability and 
accessibility.  
 

6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 
None 
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
Two affordable housing schemes are included in the Programme. 
 
And the overarching aim of the Town Deal Programme is to improve 
perceptions and raise aspirations of the area. A professional 
approach has been taken to the marketing and promotion of the 
schemes, raising a positive profile of the area and celebrating its 
assets and people.  
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 There is a risk of clawback or non-drawdown of funding if the grant 

Page 36



is not managed correctly; however, with careful management and 
support offered by the Programmes Office and designated Finance 
Officer, it is anticipated that all funding will be drawn down/defrayed 
and the outputs and outcomes met. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 

Wherever possible, opportunities are widely offered both to input to 
how the funding is spent and consultation on spend has been 
undertaken where possible and opportunities to input in a more 
strategic way by the business and voluntary sector communities via 
the Town Deal Board. 
 

Activities and services included in the programme are largely aimed 
at accessibility and inclusivity. 
 

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 
 
 
 
9.2 
 
 
9.3 

Wherever possible consideration is giving to the delivery of green 
initiatives and to the environmental implications of project 
delivery. 
 
All projects are asked to consider the environmental implications 
of delivery and minimise these where possible. 
 
For example, solar panels are being installed on a number of 
buildings within the Programme; and LED lights and other energy 
saving measures included in the Brindley extension. 
 

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

None under the meaning of the Act 
 

 

Page 37



www.halton.gov.uk

Runcorn Town Deal
Pictorial Projects Update

https://reconnectingruncorn.info/ 

P
age 38



www.halton.gov.uk

Brindley Theatre Extension
Transforming the already award-winning theatre with a 
refreshed design, making the Brindley more visible and 
accessible, taking advantage of a new outdoor public 

realm and vistas connecting to the town.

P
age 39



www.halton.gov.uk

Brindley Green
P

age 40



www.halton.gov.uk

High Street Connectivity – St Paul’s Mews

To be able to open up the high street more 
this project includes the demolition of a 
couple of unused buildings. One of the key 
project strands this feeds into is The 
Brindley Green.

P
age 41



www.halton.gov.uk

High Street Connectivity
 High Street Public Realm

Improving the connectivity, accessibility and 
environment on key routes around the town centre & 
in turn reduce congestion and pollution in the town 

centre. In a push to improve ability of active lifestyles 
within the community this is set to include more 

pedestrian friendly paths, cycle lanes & new taxi rank.

P
age 42



www.halton.gov.uk

Health and Education Hub
A mixed-use hub delivering health and 
education services and providing access 
to a wide range of health, wellbeing and 
training services situated in the current 
Granville Library building. The services 
are aimed at families, young people and 
residents living with long-term 
conditions. Giving the community better 
access to health services, as well as 
further education and job-seeking 
support in a ‘one stop’ facility.

P
age 43



www.halton.gov.uk

Creative and Digital Skills Centre
71 High Street

The restoration of this Georgian building is the first of the 
creative and Digital Skills Hub. Seeing the expansion of 
Hazlehurst Studios into the space has provided high quality 
studio space for artists and creatives, incorporating 
accessible ground floor workspaces for artists to work in 
and hold community workshops and exhibitions in.

P
age 44



www.halton.gov.uk

Creative and Digital Skills Centre
57 59 and 63 65 High Street

57/59: Development of a Victorian shop building with heritage value 
with an adjoining new build to house Youthy.com- a youth centre for 

the young people of Runcorn.
63/65The Centre will host Mako Create to deliver digital skills training 
and A Place For Us theatre company to offer performing arts for the 

local community

P
age 45



www.halton.gov.uk

High Street Connectivity
Temple New Hall & Peace Garden

The Peace garden was built on a derelict triangle of land which was 
unused  by anyone. It is now a relaxing area with an impressive six-
metre hollow, bronzed statue in the centre.

P
age 46



www.halton.gov.uk

High Street Connectivity – Temple New Hall & Peace Garden
P

age 47



www.halton.gov.uk

High Street Connectivity
Temple New Hall & Peace

Garden

Situated in the temple car 
park this is set to become a 
new landmark building near 
Waterloo Bridge. Becoming 
just the third Ubosot Hall in 
the UK. Not only will this 
building hold significance for 
the temple but also the 
community of Runcorn, as 
large community space.

P
age 48



www.halton.gov.uk

High Street Connectivity
Street Art

https://picturehalton.org.uk/  Tim Stubbings Commercial Photography

Exploring the town of Runcorn on foot is about to become even more enjoyable. 
Between the High Street near the Bridgewater Canal and River Mersey, art will be 
displayed on the viaduct piers from 1961. The artist concept is showcasing some 
local history from the Dukesfield area, to blend art with the town’s unique history

P
age 49

https://timstubbings.com/runcorn-life-under-a-concrete-shadow/
https://timstubbings.com/runcorn-life-under-a-concrete-shadow/


www.halton.gov.uk

Town Centre New Homes
High Street

The building of 65 self-contained 
apartments on Runcorn High Street 
for over 55’s. This will provide much 
needed additional fully accessible 
quality homes, specifically designed 
for the older generation & located 
on the High Street, giving residents 
easier access to the facilities & 
offerings in the town centre.

P
age 50



www.halton.gov.uk

Town Centre New Homes 
Rutland Street Area

Community led housing scheme. The remediation of land in Rutland Street in 
preparation for a newly formed Community Land Trust to take forward the 
design and build of much needed mixed use community housing

P
age 51



www.halton.gov.uk

Unlock Runcorn – Civils, Landscaping

The creation of a landscaped area between Runcorn Station and 
the new Peace Garden temple. It will also see a small extension to 
the canal where the boats used for boat trips can be moored.

P
age 52



www.halton.gov.uk

Unlock Runcorn Trip Boat, Visitor Café Point, Events Programme

The ultimate goal for this 
strand is the creation of a 
visitor centre and café for 
visitors to enjoy and find out 
more about the canal, as 
well as the introduction of 
boat trips along a section of 
the Canal and an events 
programme to run 
throughout the year. Led by 
Runcorn Locks Restoration 
Society (RLRS).

P
age 53



www.halton.gov.uk

Runcorn Station Quarter Enterprise Facility 

Creation of a co-working incubator space located close to the Runcorn 
West Coast mainline station. Providing quality office space, meeting 
room hire, event space hire and various ancillary uses at ground floor 
level such as a café, retail or toilets. Working with the wider business 
community in Runcorn, including the Creative and Digital Skills Centre 
on the High Street and Sci-Tech Daresbury and the Digital Cluster.

P
age 54



REPORT TO: 

 

Environment and Urban Renewal PPB 

DATE: 

 

18 September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICERS: 

 

Director of Public Health 
 
Executive Director - Environment and Regeneration 
 

PORTFOLIO: 

 

Environment and Urban Renewal  
 

SUBJECT: 

 

Houses in Multiple Occupation and the Private Rental 
Sector – Update  
 

WARD(S) 

 

Borough Wide 
 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  To update members on progress with the Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) Action plan and development of policy relating to 
the wider private rental sector 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That the Board: 
 

1) note the progress made to date on the HMO action plan. 

 

2) endorses the proposal that further policy to control and 

maintain standards in HMO’s and the wider private rental 

sector is taken forward and considered during development 

of the borough-wide Housing Strategy.  

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
3.1 
 

In September 2022 the Environment & Urban Renewal PPB 
resolved to form a working party of members to consider policy to 
address the proliferation and standards in Houses of Multiple 
Occupation. 

 
3.2 
 

A house in multiple occupation (HMO) is a property housing 3 or 
more occupants who do not form the same household. HMO’s with 
more than 5 occupants must be licensed with the council in 
accordance with the Housing Act 2004. 
 

3.3 
 

In terms of planning controls; the conversion of a dwelling house 
(class 3) to a small HMO with less than 4 occupants (class 4) has 
permitted development rights and does not require planning 
permission. Larger HMO’s with more than 7 occupants (sue generis) 
require planning permission. Therefore most smaller HMO’s 
currently require neither a license or planning permission.  

Page 55 Agenda Item 6c



 
3.4 
 

The HMO  working party developed an action plan that was 
endorsed by the Environment and Urban Renewal PPB In February 
2023. Most of those actions have subsequently been implemented 
and include;  
 

 Adoption of HMO Amenity Standards for licensed HMO’s 
 

 Production of a draft HMO Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD). The SPD  would introduce explicit planning 
controls on those HMO’s that are subject to planning 
permission and includes;  

 Concentration of HMO’s within an area;  

 restricting sandwiching of properties by HMOs;  

 restricting three or more adjacent HMOs;  

 minimum property standards;  

 criteria to protect the amenity of neighbours 
 

 A detailed door to door survey in the West Bank area of the 
Central and Westbank Ward to establish property type and 
tenure.  This survey identified a high percentage of private 
rental properties compared with the rest of the borough, but 
did not identify a significant number of smaller unlicensed 
HMO’s as had been anticipated.  
 

3.5 
 
 

In addition the action plan included the commissioning of a Borough 
Wide review of the private rental housing stock in the borough. The 
aims of the review were to investigate and provide accurate 
estimates of;   
 

 Current levels of private rented sector (PRS) properties 
and tenure change over time 

 Levels of serious hazards that might amount to a 
Category 1 hazard in accordance with the Housing Health 
& Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 

 Other housing related stressors, including antisocial 
behaviour (ASB), service demand, population and 
deprivation linked to the PRS 

 Assist the council to make policy decisions, including the 
possible introduction of property licensing schemes under 
the Housing Act 2004 

 The number and distribution of smaller and unlicensed 
HMO’s 

 
3.6 
 

The final private sector stock condition and impacts report has now 
been delivered. The key findings are set out below. 
 

3.6.1 
 

Tenure type and changes over time 

 

Page 56



The percentage of private rental properties in the borough is now 
estimated to be 19% compared with 11% in 2011. The percentage 
of owner occupied properties has fallen from 64% in 2011 to 58% in 
2024. The percentage of social rented properties has dropped 
slightly from 25% in 2011 to 23% in 2024.  
 
These figures suggest the private rental sector is fulfilling the 
demand for affordable rented accommodation that is not currently 
met by the social rented sector.  
 
Two wards are calculated to have a percentage of private rental 
property that is significantly above average; Appleton (30.3%) and 
Mersey and Weston (29.9%.)  The detailed door to door survey in 
the West Bank area of the central and west bank ward, referred to 
in 3.4 above,  also found the percentage of private rental properties 
in that part of the ward to be around 30%.  
 

3.6.2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Property standards 

 
23% of Halton’s housing stock was built before the 2nd world war. 
The age profile of housing stock can have an impact on housing 
conditions.  
 
The company conducting the review have developed a methodology 
to calculate the number of private rental properties that are 
predicted to have at least 1 serious defect. Across the borough 4020 
private rented properties are estimated to have at least one serious 
hazard.  
 
Central & West Bank, Appleton and Mersey & Weston are all 
estimated to have 200 or more properties in the private rental sector 
with at least one serious hazard that could affect the safety or health 
of occupants.  

3.6.3 Energy performance 

 
It is a legal requirement that all properties that are sold or rented 
must be marketed with a current Energy Performance Certificate 
(EPC).  
 
Halton has 1,111 private rental sector properties with EPC ratings 
that are E, F, & G.  
 
EPC ratings E, F, & G represent properties with the least energy 
efficiency. Since 2020 private rental properties must have a 
minimum energy efficiency rating of E. This make it illegal to let a 
property with an EPC rating of F or G unless a valid exemption is in 
place. Local authorities have powers to serve compliance notices or 
issue fines to landlords in breach on this requirement.  
 
Mersey & Weston (164) and Appleton (145) are estimated to have 

Page 57



the highest number of EPC rating E-G properties in the borough. 
 
These figures are likely to reflect the age of the housing stock in 
those wards.  

 
3.6.4 Complaint volumes and nuisance  

 
The report also analysed the numbers of service requests and 
complaints made to the council for a range of issues that impact on 
a resident’s enjoyment of their property or the amenity of the area. 
Such issues include complaints about pests, noise nuisance, 
rubbish accumulations and housing standards.  
 
In total there were 7581 complaints linked to properties in the 
private rented sector over a 5 year period. Such complaints provide 
an indicator of property standards and management. The highest 
number of complaints are in the Appleton (669), Central and 
Westbank (802) and Mersy and Weston (805). 

 
3.6.5 Houses in Multiple Occupation  

 
Halton has 187 known HMO’s of which 116 are larger HMO’s that 
are licensed by the council. 72 of these are managed by SERCO on 
behalf of the Home Office as part of the Government’s refugee and 
asylum seeker resettlement scheme.  
 
The contractor has developed a methodology to predict the number 
of additional smaller HMO’s that may be present in the borough but 
have not been identified by the council as HMO’s. This model 
predicts there to be an additional 355 HMO’s in Halton. These are 
generally distributed evenly throughout the borough. Central and 
Westbank has the highest number of known and predicted HMO’s 
(72).  
 
An assessment of the Council’s systems was previously undertaken 
(Council Tax, Housing Benefit, electoral role) to identify any 
properties where multiple different surnames were registered at a 
single domestic property, as this would be indicative of a HMO. This 
did not identify many additional houses beyond those already known 
to be HMO’s.  Based on this analysis, the estimate of 355 is 
considered to be at the top end of the range, 187 – 355 dwellings 
used as HMOs in Halton.    

 
4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

The stock condition and impacts report provides an evidence base 
to support further policy to maintain and improve standards in the 
private rental sector including HMO’s. Such interventions may 
include selective or additional licensing in accordance with the 
Housing Act 2004. 

Page 58



 
4.2 
 

The report identified that 3 wards, Central & West Bank, Mersey & 
Weston and Appleton have a higher than average percentage of 
private rental properties. The report also identified a higher 
incidence of property related complaints and predicted property 
hazards in these wards. Therefore any future interventions that are 
considered should be focussed on these wards.  

 
4.3 
 

 
In April 2024 the Executive Board resolved to the commissioning 
and production of a new borough wide Housing Strategy and 
supporting evidence. The stock condition and impacts report 
summarised in this report will contribute to that supporting evidence.  
 

4.4 It is proposed that any further policy or interventions to address 
standards in the private rental sector are taken forward and 
considered as part of the borough wide housing strategy. 
Government guidance states that any additional policy interventions, 
such as selective or additional licensing, should be considered as 
part of a strategic local authority wide approach.  
 

4.5 Whilst further policy options may be considered in relation to HMO’s 
and the private rented sector,  the council does have existing 
powers to respond to housing standards, nuisance and waste 
issues. 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this 
proposal. The financial implications associated with future policy 
development will be considered in full in further reports when those 
policies are presented to members for scrutiny and approval. 
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES  
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 

Independence 
 
None directly from this report 
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
 
None directly from this report 
 

6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 
 
None directly from this report 
 

6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 
 
None directly from this report 

Page 59



 
6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 

 
None directly from this report 
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
 
None directly from this report 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 There are no risks directly associated with this report. The risks  
associated with future policy development will be considered in full 
in further reports when those policies are presented to members for 
scrutiny and approval. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

 
8.1 None identified  

 
9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 
 

The data provided on minimum energy efficiency standards, set out 
in 3.6.3, above will enable the council to target properties and areas 
for future energy efficiency grants.  
 

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

 
 None under the meaning of the Act. 

 
 

Page 60



REPORT TO: 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal Policy and 
Performance Board 
 

DATE: 
 

18 September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Director of Public Health 

PORTFOLIO: 
 

Environmental & Urban Renewal 
 

SUBJECT: 
 

Stray Dog Collection and Kennelling Service 
 

WARD(S) 
 

Borough Wide  

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  The purpose of the report is to inform members of changes to the 
stray dog collection and kennelling service and the approach to 
procuring this service. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the report be noted 
 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 
 

For the past 10 years Halton council has procured its stray dog 
kennelling service through a consortium of local authorities which 
includes Liverpool, Sefton and Knowsley. Liverpool City Council led 
on procurement on behalf of the consortium. 
 

3.2 
 

The current contract was due to expire on 31st May 2024. A 
procurement process had commenced with market testing revealing 
that only the current provider intended to submit a bid for the 
contract. However, at the beginning of February 2024, the current 
provider indicated that they no longer intended to bid for the 
contract. Then at the beginning of March 2024 Liverpool CC advised 
that they were withdrawing from the consortium and would be 
procuring an alternative service for Liverpool CC alone. 
 

3.3 
 

This left Halton needing to procure a new stray dog collection and 
kennelling service in less than 12 weeks. Therefore it has not been 
possible to follow the normal tender process and associated scrutiny 
and approval via PPB and the Executive Board. 
 

3.4 
 

Acorn Kennels based in Shropshire were identified as a potential 
provider. They provide stray dog kennelling and collection services 
for a number of local authorities including Cheshire West & Chester 
and Cheshire East. The kennels are licensed by Shropshire Council 
and receive a 5 star rating. The most recent inspection by  
Shropshire Council was in March 2024 when the license was 

Page 61 Agenda Item 6d



renewed. The kennels were inspected by Halton Council in June 
2024 and were found to be clean, well organised and demonstrated 
a high standard of animal welfare and legal compliance. 
 

3.5 
 

Acorn Kennels were approached and indicated they would be able 
to provide the service.  A fee of 18K per annum was agreed. The fee 
is consistent with the existing budget available for the stray dog 
service. Therefore a decision was taken to direct award the contract 
to Acorn Kennels to ensure a service was in place from the 31st 
May. The contract will run until May 2027 with options to extend to 
May 2029. 
 

3.6 
 

Due to the time constraints it was not possible to follow the normal 
scrutiny and approval process. Therefore prior to the contract being 
signed, consultation took place with the Executive Board portfolio 
holder for Environment and Urban Renewal to outline the details of 
the new service and the approach to procurement. It was agreed 
that whilst it was not possible to seek Executive Board approval, a 
report would be taken to the next Environment and Urban Renewal 
PPB to inform members of the new service. 
 

3.7 
 

Approximately 60 stray dogs a year are collected in the Halton area. 
Only 14 of those dogs were reclaimed. This number has reduced 
significantly since the introduction of compulsory microchipping in 
2016. By way of comparison 411 stray dogs were collected in 
2014/15. If a dog is microchipped, and the details are kept up to 
date, most dogs can be reunited with their owners without the 
involvement of the council’s stray dog service. 
 

3.8 
 

The new service with Acorn Kennels is for the collection and 
kennelling of stray dogs. Dogs will be collected between the hours of 
9am to 10pm 7 days a week, including bank holidays, but with the 
exception of Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Years Day.  
 

3.9 If it is not possible to return the dog to the owner from the place it 
was collected then the dog will be taken to kennels. The provider 
operates a licensed dog kennels in Whitchurch, Shropshire which 
has been issued a 5 star rating by the local authority. It is 
acknowledged that the kennels are some distance from Halton and 
so some changes have been made to the fees charged in an 
attempt to reduce the number of dogs that need to be taken to 
kennels. 
 

3.10 If an owner can be identified they will be contacted and provided 
with details on how to reclaim their dog.  
 
With the previous contract It was not possible for the owner to 
collect the dog from the kennels. The kennels were not open to the 
public. Instead dogs were returned by the contractor direct to the 
owner at their home address. However a fee of up to £125 was 

Page 62



charged to the owner to reclaim a dog. The fee was retained by the 
previous contractor and was used to subsidise the overall cost of the 
service provided.   
 
In recognition that the kennels are now some distance from Halton it 
is no longer proposed to charge a full reclaim fee. Instead owners 
will be given a choice of collecting the dog from the kennels in 
Whitchurch, or for a fee of £20 the contractor will transport the dog 
back to the owner’s home. 
 

3.11 The decision to remove the full reclaim fees will facilitate the efficient 
return of dogs to their owners and is intended to enable the dogs to 
be returned direct to the owner without the dog being taken into 
kennels. The previous arrangement delayed the return of dogs to  
the owner whilst payment of fees was arranged and processed.  
 

3.12 By law an owner must reclaim their dog within 7 days. After that 
period the council can by law gift the dog to an organisation that 
they are satisfied will be able to care for the dog. Acorn Kennels also 
operate a rehoming kennel. Therefore after 7 days any unclaimed 
dogs will be gifted to Acorn Kennels with the expectation that as 
many dogs as possible will be found a new home with a new family. 
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 
 
 
 
4.2 

This is a statutory service. Under the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 the council is under a duty to make arrangements for the 
collection of stray dogs. Where an owner can be found within the 
statutory 7 day period the dog must be returned to its owner. 
 
The animal welfare licensing requirements specify that kennels for 
the boarding of stray dogs must be separate from the facilities for 
the boarding of other dogs. This makes the boarding of stray dogs a 
specialist activity and is reflected by the fact there are very few 
contractors available to supply this service.  
 

4.3 The police are responsible for enforcing the Dangerous Dogs Act 
1991, including dealing with banned breeds and dogs that are 
dangerous and out of control. If a stray dog that is collected is 
suspected of being a banned breed the contract requires the 
provider to liaise with the police to ensure the dog is handled 
appropriately.  
 

4.4 There is no patrol or enforcement function associated with this 
contract. The purpose of this contract is solely to fulfil the council’s 
statutory obligation to collect and kennel stray dogs. 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 Given the very small number of stray dogs now collected annually it 

Page 63



is not economically viable for the council to provide the kennel 
facilities, trained staff and vehicles required to operate this service in 
house. A service of this nature needs to be procured at scale 
through a consortium of local authorities, or through a contractor 
who has the necessary facilities to provide this service on a viable 
scale.   
 

5.2 The fee agreed with the contractor is consistent with the budget 
available for this service. This arrangement therefore offers the best 
value available to the Council to enable it to fulfil this statutory 
function. 
 

5.3 The overall fee agreed with the contractor is not dependent on 
additional reclaim fees being levied and retained by the contractor. 
Therefore the decision to remove reclaim fees does not have any 
impact on the financing of this service.  
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES  
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
 
None 
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
 
None 
 

6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 
 
None 
 

6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 
 
None 
 

6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 
 
None 
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
 
This statutory service prevents stray dogs being a nuisance or 
danger to the public. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 This arrangement ensures the council can continue to fulfil its 
statutory obligations. Therefore there are no significant risks 
associated with this proposal. 

Page 64



 
8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

 
8.1 No equality or diversity implications have been identified.  

 
9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 No significant climate change implications have been identified.  

 
10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

None under the meaning of the Act.  
 

 

Page 65



REPORT TO: 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal Policy  and 
Performance Board 
 

DATE: 
 

18th September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Executive Director - Environment and Regeneration 
 

PORTFOLIO: 
 

Environment and Urban Renewal 

SUBJECT: 
 

Control of Fly Posting and Banner Advertisements 
 

WARD(S) 
 

Borough wide 

 
1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  Powers are available under section 224 and 225 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to enforce the control of advertisements.  
 

1.2 The authority has not used these powers fully in recent years, but the 
control of advertisements is an effective means of controlling 
unauthorised advertisement and fly posting that affect the amenity of an 
area. The authority must always be prepared to follow up on it powers 
including taking court action. In this way the service of the Notices will be 
viewed as a credible threat to achieve improvements. 
 

1.3 Officers have noticed there has been a proliferation of banner 
advertisements being fixed to highway furniture. Causing potential 
highway safety issues and effecting the amenity of the area. 
 

1.4 At the end of February the Council, working across Planning, 
Environment Services and Community Safety and Protection services, 
removed 82 items of illegal advertising banner material (44 Runcorn – 38 
Widnes).  
 

1.5 The purpose of this report is to appraise Members of these powers in 
order that they may be aware of the purposes and implications in the 
case of the powers being exercised. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Board identify and consider:  

 

1) the resource / priority implications of the approach; and 
2) priority areas for action.  

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
3.1 
 

For planning purposes, ‘advertisement’ is defined in section 336(1) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) as: 
 
“any word, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, awning, blind, 

Page 66 Agenda Item 6e



device or representation, whether illuminated or not, in the nature of, and 
employed wholly or partly for the purposes of, advertisement, 
announcement or direction, and (without prejudice to the previous 
provisions of this definition) includes any hoarding or similar structure 
used or designed, or adapted for use and anything else principally used, 
or designed or adapted principally for use, for the display of 
advertisements.” 
 

3.2 
 

There are three categories of advertisement consent: 

 Those permitted without requiring either deemed or express 
consent from the local planning authority. 

 Those which have deemed consent. 

 Those which require the express consent of the local planning 
authority. 
 

3.3 
 

All advertisements, whether they require consent or not, are subject to the 
standard conditions in Schedule 2 to the Regulations. These are: 

1. no advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the 
owner of the site on which they are displayed (this includes the 
highway authority if the sign is to be placed on highway land). 

2. no advertisement is to be displayed which would obscure, or 
hinder the interpretation of, official road, rail, waterway, or aircraft 
signs, or otherwise make hazardous the use of these types of 
transport. 

3. any advertisement must be maintained in a condition that does not 
impair the visual amenity of the site. 

4. any advertisement hoarding or structure is to be kept in a condition 
which does not endanger the public; and 

5. if an advertisement is required to be removed, the site must be left 
in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual 
amenity. 

 
3.4 
 

Anyone who displays an advertisement in contravention of the 
Regulations commits an offence. For example, by displaying an advert 
without the necessary consent or without complying with the conditions 
attached to that consent. It is then immediately open to the local planning 
authority to bring a prosecution in the Magistrates’ Court for an offence 
under section 224 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The 
penalty on conviction for the offence is at level 4 on the standard scale 
(current maximum £2,500) and in the case of a continuing offence a 
further daily fine of up to a maximum of one tenth of that amount (£250) 
until the contravention ends. 
 

3.5 
 

There are several provisions under which unauthorised advertisements 
can be controlled by local planning authorities. The principal mechanisms 
are in section 224 and section 225 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended). Local planning authorities have specific powers to 
deal with: 

 illegal hoardings. 

 fly-posting. 

Page 67



 graffiti; and 

 unauthorised advertisements alongside highways. 
 

3.6 
 

Section 225A of the 1990 Act (as amended) allows local planning 
authorities to remove and dispose of any display structure – such as an 
advertisement hoarding – which, in their opinion, is used for the display of 
illegal advertisements. This provision does not apply to a structure in a 
building to which the public have no right of access. 
 

3.7 
 

Before taking any action, the local planning authority must serve a 
‘removal notice’ on the person responsible for the erection and 
maintenance of the structure, provided they can be identified. If not, the 
local planning authority must fix the removal notice to the structure or 
display it in the vicinity and serve a copy on the occupier of the land, if 
one is known, or if one can be identified. If the removal notice is not 
complied with, within the time allowed (at least 22 days beginning with the 
date of the notice), the authority may remove the structure and recover 
expenses reasonably incurred in doing so from anyone served with the 
removal notice. 
 

3.8 There is a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against a removal 
notice, both for a person on whom the notice was served (whether this is 
the person who appears responsible for the erection or maintenance of 
the display structure, or the occupier of the land on which a display 
structure is situated) and the owner or occupier of land upon whom no 
notice has been served. 
 

3.9 Fly Posting 
Local planning authorities can take action against persistent unauthorised 
advertisements on surfaces. Action can be taken against those 
responsible for fly-posting, the beneficiaries of fly-posting and the owners 
of surfaces that are the subject of fly-posting. Local planning authorities 
are able to recover their costs of removing fly-posting by direct action. 
 

3.10 
 

Section 225 of the 1990 Act enables a local planning authority to remove 
or obliterate any placard or poster displayed illegally in their area. Before 
this power can be exercised, advance written notice must be given to 
anyone who can be identified as the person responsible for the display, 
that: 

 in the local planning authority’s opinion, it is displayed illegally; and 

 the local planning authority intends to remove or obliterate it after 
the expiry of a period specified in the notice. 

 
3.11 At least two clear days after the date when the notice is served must be 

allowed before a local planning authority proceeds to remove or obliterate 
the display. A local planning authority need not give notice where the 
placard or poster does not give the address of the person displaying it 
and the local planning authority does not know that address and is unable 
to ascertain the relevant address after making reasonable inquiry. 
 

Page 68



3.12 Local planning authorities may serve a community protection notice under 
Section 43 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, to 
require statutory undertakers and others responsible for street furniture 
and ‘relevant surfaces’ to remove fly-posters, and where street furniture 
and relevant surfaces are defaced by fly-posters in a manner that is 
detrimental to the amenity of the area or is offensive. If a community 
protection notice is not complied with, a local planning authority can 
remove fly-posters and reclaim the costs of doing so. 
 

3.13 If the local planning authority decides to take action against the owner of 
a surface that is the subject of fly-posting, it may serve an ‘action notice’ 
under section 225C on the owner or occupier of the land where the 
surface is situated if they are known or can be discovered. If this is not 
possible after reasonable enquiry, it may fix the notice to the surface. 
 

3.14 The action notice requires the owner or occupier to take any specified 
measures (provided these are reasonable) to prevent or reduce the 
frequency of the unauthorised advertisements on the surface concerned. 
At least 28 days must be allowed for action to be taken. 
 

3.15 If action is not taken, the local planning authority may take the specified 
action itself and recover expenses reasonably incurred from the owner or 
occupier. If, however, damage is caused to land or chattels, 
compensation may be recovered by any person suffering the damage, but 
not if the damage was reasonably caused in carrying out the action. 
 

3.16 Expenditure cannot be recovered if the surface is on, within the curtilage 
of, or forms part of the curtilage boundary of, a dwelling house or forms 
part of a flat. 
 

3.17 Advertisements alongside Highways 
Section 132 of the Highways Act 1980 enables the highway authority to 
remove unlawful advertisements such as pictures or signs attached to 
any trees, highway signs, structures or works in the highway. 
 

3.18 Rural areas are often included in areas of special control, which means 
that advertisement hoardings alongside motorways, trunk roads and 
railways in these areas are prohibited. Advertisement hoardings in other 
areas require express consent before they can be lawfully displayed. Any 
advertisement, including any advertisement in the deemed consent 
classes, which does not comply with the conditions and limitations for its 
class also requires express consent. 
 

3.19 
 

Advertisements on vehicles or trailers parked in fields, on verges or in lay-
bys require express consent. Only when the vehicle is used as a moving 
vehicle and is not used principally for the display of advertisements is any 
advertisement on it lawful without express consent. The site where the 
vehicle is parked for any length of time becomes a site for the display of 
advertisements. The ‘site’ can be regarded as all the land owned by the 
owner of the site, or the length of the highway in the local planning 

Page 69



authority’s area. 
 

3.20 As there are road safety issues in displaying advertisements alongside 
motorways and other trunk roads, the relevant highway authority must be 
consulted on certain applications for express consent. The highway 
authority is unlikely to support any application for an advertisement which 
could distract drivers. The road safety and amenity issues raised by these 
advertisements mean that it is unlikely that express consent to display 
them would be given. 
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

Use of the Power 
The use of the powers to remove advertisements can have a beneficial 
impact on the look and appearance of the borough. However, in removing 
the signs the Council do get accused of being anti-business. Due to 
resources Officers are only looking to be proactive in areas where a 
number of signs have been erected and they are affecting the amenity of 
the area. Officers are looking to work with colleagues in highways, 
Environment Services, Community Safety and Protection in carrying out 
this work. Officers will of course use these powers in a reactive way when 
unauthorised adverts are reported. Given the difficulties in solving this 
problem officers will allocate at least 14 hours a month to undertaken 
Enforcement action. 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 There are no specific budgets/ resources to carry out the removals. 
Officers across departments will look to carry out the works. 
 

5.2 The preparation and service of notices are covered by the existing 
arrangements with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. Any legal costs 
associated with the preparation of notices or any appeals to the 
magistrates’ court will have to be met. There is no existing budget for this 
within planning budgets. 
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 

6.1 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
 
None identified. 
 

6.2 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
 
None identified. 
 

6.3 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 
 
None identified. 

Page 70



 
6.4 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 

 
None identified. 
 

6.5 Working Towards a Greener Future 
 
Improvement of untidy sites can improve perceptions of safety within an 
area. 
 

6.6 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
 
None identified. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 The procedure is useful to secure improvements in visual amenity. 
 

7.2 
 

Breach of the notice immediately enables the Authority to prosecute. In 
that sense the notices provide a rapid enforcement mechanism for 
unsightly or untidy land. There are powers for the Authority to carry out 
works in default. 
 

7.3 There is, however, a right of appeal for the person served to challenge the 
effect on amenity and therefore such issues may have to be argued 
before Magistrates. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 None identified. 
 

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 
 

None identified.  
 

10.0 
 
 
10.1 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

 
 

Document Place of Inspection Contact Officer 
 

Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990  

Municipal Building  Andrew Plant 

 

Page 71



 

REPORT TO: Environment and Urban Renewal Policy and 
Performance Board  

 
DATE: 18 September 2024     
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive  
 
PORTFOLIO: Environment & Regeneration 
 
SUBJECT: Performance Management Report for  

Quarter 4 of 2023/24 
  
WARDS: Boroughwide  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To consider, and raise any questions or points of clarification, in respect 

of performance management for the final quarter period to 31st March 
2024. 

 
1.2 Key priorities for development or improvement in 2023 - 24 were 

agreed by Members and included in Directorate Plans, for the various 
functional areas reporting to the Environment and Regeneration Policy 
and Performance Board as detailed below: 

 

 Development and Investment Services 

 Highways and Transportation, Logistics and Development 
Services 

 Waste and Environmental Improvement and Open Space Services 
 
The report details progress against service objectives and milestones, 
and performance targets and provides information relating to key 
developments and emerging issues that have arisen during the period.  

 
2.0 RECOMMENDED: That the Policy and Performance Board 
 

1) Receive the final quarter performance management reports;  
 
2) Consider the progress and performance information and raise 

any questions or points for clarification; and   
 

3) Highlight any areas of interest and/or concern where further 
information is to be reported at a future meeting of the Board.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72 Agenda Item 7a



 

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Departmental objectives provide a clear statement on what services are 

planning to achieve and to show how they contribute to the Council’s 
strategic priorities.  

         
3.2  Such information is central to the Council’s performance management 

arrangements and the Policy and Performance Board has a key role in 
monitoring performance and strengthening accountability.   

 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no policy implications associated with this report.  
 
5.0  OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no other implications associated with this report. 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 Departmental service objectives and performance measures, both local 

and national are linked to the delivery of the Council’s priorities.   
The identification of business critical objectives/ milestones and 
performance indicators will further support organisational improvement.  

 
6.2 Although some objectives link specifically to one priority area, the nature 

of the cross - cutting activities being reported, means that to a greater or 
lesser extent a contribution is made to one or more of the Council 
priorities.  

 
7.0    RISK ANALYSIS 
 
7.1 At the time at which annual business plans are developed, Directorate 

Risk Registers are also refreshed and updated.  
 
8.0    EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
8.1   Not applicable. 
 
9.0    CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1    Not applicable 
 
10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTIONS 100D OF THE   

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
  

10.1 Not applicable 

Page 73



                                
 
 
 

 
 
 

Reporting Period: Quarter 4 – 1st January to 31st March 2024 
 
 
 

1.0 Introduction 

 
 
1.1 This report provides an overview of issues and progress against key service objectives/milestones and 

performance targets, during the final quarter of 2023 / 24 for those service areas within the remit of the 
Environment and Regeneration Policy and Performance Board. 

 
1.2 Key priorities for development or improvement in 2023 / 24 were agreed by Members and included in 

Directorate Plans, for the various functional areas reporting to the Environment & Regeneration Policy & 
Performance Board i.e.: 

 
 Development & Investment Services 
 Open Spaces and Waste and Environmental Improvement  
 Highways, Transportation & Logistics and Physical Environment 

 
1.4 The way in which traffic light symbols have been used to reflect progress to date is explained within Section 7 

of this report. 
 
 
 
 

2.0 Key Developments 

 
 
2.1 There have been a number of developments within the Directorate during the period which include:- 
 
Economy Enterprise & Property 
 
2.2 Regeneration Town Centres 

 
Runcorn 
Work to progress the programme of projects called “Reconnecting Runcorn” funded by the £23.6m Runcorn Town 
Deal is progressing with all proposals achieving traction. The projects are continuing to progress through the design 
phases, with all the associated surveys, consents, agreements, working with multi-disciplinary consultant teams, with 
a wide variety of colleagues / Council teams, and numerous external stakeholders involved.  
 
The High Street Housing project is now on site and being delivered by Halton Housing.  The next phase of the Creative 

and Digital Skill Centre, the Youth Centre at 57- 59 High Street, has been tendered.  A soft strip out has been completed 

in advance of the award of the contract. Work on site is expected to start in April 2024. The Brindley Theatre extension 

has been tendered with a start on site (subject to tender appraisal) estimated to be June 2024.   

 
 

 

Environment and Regeneration PPB – Priority Based Monitoring Report 

Page 74



Runcorn Station Quarter 
Approval of Town Deal funding for an enterprise centre was obtained in October 2022.  A procurement exercise has 
been undertaken to secure an operator; however, HBC were unable to appoint an operator so further discussions 
are taking place in respect of the most appropriate way to proceed.  In the interim a roof survey has been completed 
and report is being reviewed. 
 
Runcorn Station Redevelopment – Network Rail’s Capital Delivery Team have now received a price to complete the 

GRIP3 design stage and proceed with further detailed design.  This is currently being considered.  

An application by DLA Piper has been made on the Council’s behalf to HMLR to register land which has been highlighted 
as unregistered.  
 
Widnes Town Centre 
 
Currently RIBA2 Design Options Appraisal & Development Framework is being carried out for the Kingsway Quarter 

site to support current and future funding bids. A bid has been submitted to the CA for funding to progress a more 

detailed masterplan for the town centre. 

 

Freeport and 3MG 

The Freeport sites are being actively promoted by the Freeport team and Halton council’s Business Investment and 

Growth Team. In total there are four significant sites being promoted ranging in size from 140,000 square feet to 

500,000 square feet. Exeter 195 on Matheson Rd has been completed and is being actively marketed to secure a 

tenant and HBC Field is on site. 

Sci-Tech Daresbury  

The Joint Venture continues to progress proposals for Project Violet Phase 2. The project will be funded via 

Investment Zone and Chrysalis loan. The Investment Zone was launched in Q4 at MIPIM and work is ongoing to 

finalise the Memorandum of Understanding between Government and the Combined Authority. The process to 

secure investment will continue in Q1 of 2024-25. 

 

Astmoor 

The Development Agreement has now been completed and work is ongoing to establish a partnership board and to 

agree scheme delivery. 

 

Foundry Lane  

Planning permission was secured in March paving the way for development to commence later in the year (the 

remediation phase is now complete). The total number of dwellings to be built remains at 360 however phase one 

has been pared back to 63 but the shortfall is mitigated weather increase indwelling units in phase two. 

 

Energy Retrofit Programme 

The team continue to manage a number of grant schemes to enable Halton residents, private landlords and 

Registered Providers access funds to improve the energy performance and decarbonise homes within the Borough. 

These schemes are being delivered in partnership with the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, with grant 

funding secured from Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy.  

Focus this quarter has been on promoting a new grant scheme called the Home Upgrade Grant Round 2 (HUG2), 

with a target to improve between 50 – 100 properties ‘off gas’ properties, with insulation and renewable energy 

measures. A number of targeted letter drops have been undertaken to raise awareness of the grant. 

 
 
 

Page 75



2.3 Regeneration Non-Town Centres 
 

The Business Investment and Growth Team successfully Launched the first Green Breakfast Network in March which 

offers an opportunity for businesses to learn more about projects happening across the Liverpool City Region and 

beyond and the event was well received by those who attended. 

The team will be looking to host further sector specific networks during the course of 2024/2025 as part of the 

outward facing engagement including logistics, advanced manufacturing and a UKSPF Economic Conference. 

 

2.4 Asset Management  

Unit 10 former Catalyst Trade Park, Widnes – licence to Tarmac completed 19 March 2024 

Unit 4, St Pauls Mews, High St, Runcorn – surrender of the lease completed 16 January 2024 

Parklands Club, Chapel Lane, Widnes – completion of the lease variation 13 March 2024  

 

 
2.5 Policy Planning & Transportation 
 
2.6 Highway Development 
 
Winter Maintenance 
Q4 has seen the completion of winter maintenance operations, including gritting. There have been a number of storms 
over the winter period that have required a pro-active response, for example responding to flood events during 
periods of heavy rainfall. 
 
SJB Maintenance 
Site works commenced during Q4 on the 2023/24 SJB maintenance painting contract.  Due to the logistical challenges 
of painting the below-deck steelwork over the River Mersey, it was necessary to install site access and material storage 
facilities on the deck of the bridge.  This necessitated the closure of the northbound traffic lane (via 2-way traffic 
signals) for the duration of the works.  A new suspended decking system is being used below the bridge to create a 
working platform for the various grit blasting and painting operations.  This has reduced the load on the structure and 
enabled working efficiencies which have reduced the works programme (and cost) compared to existing systems.  
Progress is generally on target with the agreed programme (completion by the end of July), although there have been 
several delay events associated with high winds and external factors (such as the effect of maintenance issues on the 
Mersey Gateway bridge).  By the close of Q4, blasting and painting operations were underway. 
The pictures below show the painting work being undertaken beneath the bridge deck, where a ‘false floor’ has been 
constructed from scaffold to allow work to take place. 
 
 

  

Page 76



  

 
 
Streetworks 
The role of the Streetworks is to control and coordinate all works on the highway through the permit scheme. This 
includes inspecting all the various utility undertakers who have assets within the highway network to ensure they 
adhere to the conditions of their permit and reinstate the highway to meet the published standards. Due to staff 
leaving the authority, the team of five reduced down to just one during December 2023. A stabilisation plan was put 
in place to address the capacity shortage and modernise the service. Following a successful recruitment campaign the 
team has returned to full strength. Not only is this a critical team in terms of traffic management in the Borough, it is 
also a net zero cost service due to the income and charges levied through the permit scheme. 
 
 
2.7 Planning 
 
The Local Plans Team has seen significant staffing changes. The team of 5 has reduced to 2. The Team Leader left to 
take up a position with High Peak Council. Another team member is now on maternity leave, and a third team member 
has now retired. An interim arrangement has been put in place from within the team to provide management cover, 
and the team are working on a work programme to provide monitoring on the local plan and production of ancillary 
guidance documents.  
One of the two Principal Officers in Development Control has handed their notice in, having accepted a new role at 
CWAC. 
Of the two solicitors who support Planning, one has started maternity leave, and the other has given notice, having 
accepted a new role at CWAC. Locum arrangements are being put in place to cover these vacancies. 
 

 
2.8 Community & Environment 
 
2.9 Cemetries 
 
The new method for the transfer of ‘exclusive rights of burial’ has been implemented; bringing the service into line 
with recommended industry guidance. 
 
2.10 Open Spaces 
 
Town Park - scheme to better connect Holt Lane entrance with the wider park and Palacefields area is at early design 
stage. 
Brindley Theatre - enabling works for temporary pedestrian access to building during extension construction have 
been completed. 
 
Birchfield Gardens - Refurbishment/landscape and pond improvements is now underway. 
This year’s round of small-scale playground improvements has been completed (renewing safer surfacing and 
replacing outdated equipment). 

Page 77



 
 
 

3.0 Emerging Issues 

 
 
3.1 A number of emerging issues have been identified during the period that will impact upon the work of the 

Directorate including:- 
 
 
Economy Enterprise & Property 
 
 
3.2 Regeneration  
 

 Further funding, called The Long Term Plan for Towns was announced in the Spring Budget for Runcorn.  The 
funding, up to £20million over 10 years, is 75% capital and 25% revenue and is to be spent on local priorities; 
reviving high streets, tackling anti-social behaviour, improving transport and growing the local economy. The 
process will involve establishing a new town board, setting a strategy and a 10-year vision with a 3-year 
investment plan. Access to consultancy-style support through a new High Streets and Towns Taskforce (HSTTF) 
will follow after Town Boards have submitted their Long-Term Plan to provide hands-on place making 
assistance to deliver projects. 

 
 
 
3.3 Policy Performance Transportation 
 
Production of monitoring reports and future policy guidance. This was presented to the Environment & Urban Renewal 
PPB in February and comprises the forward plan of planning policy work. It is know as the LDS (Local Development 
Scheme). 

 
Planning Application Statistics (Q4 23/24): 
 
Given the number of cases on hand a backlog of applications is leading to an increase in time taken to process 
applications. This will start to hold up development and investment in the borough.  
Work is being undertaken to increase resources however this will take time. 
Total Applications Received: (Includes those Withdrawn and Returned)  119 
Applications Decided 118 Applications On-Hand (Undecided) 185 
Pre-Applications Received 30 Pre Applications Closed  34 
 
 
N.B. There are certain applications (such as tree preservation orders) that are not counted in the statutory CLG speed 
of processing statistics. This accounts for the difference between the figures reported above and the figures given for 
PPT LI 04. 
 
 
3.4 Community & Environment Services 
 
Non documented at this time. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

4.0 High Priority Equality Actions 

 
4.1 Equality issues continue to form a routine element of the Council’s business planning and operational decision 

making processes. Additionally the Council must have evidence to demonstrate compliance with the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED) which came into force in April 2011.  

 
4.2 The Councils latest annual progress report in relation to the achievement of its equality objectives is published on 

the Council website and is available via: 
 
 http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx 
 
 

5.0 Performance Overview 

 
5.1 The following information provides a synopsis of progress for both milestones and performance indicators 

across the key business areas that fall within the remit of the Board.  
 

Development and Investment Services 

 

Ref Objective: To develop, coordinate and deliver major regeneration programmes 
To deliver Runcorn Towns Fund programme. 

EEP 03 Environment and Urban Renewal 

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Spend the £23.6m by 31st March 2026.  Projects across the programme are working 
through key stages. Spring 2024 will see the first 
projects start on site. Following the May 2024 
board there will be a review to access if all 
projects can be delivered on time and too budget. 

To secure additional funding for key projects 

(Enterprise Centre and Creative and Digital Skills 

Centre) by September 2023. 

To secure vacant possession by July 2024. 

 

 

Additional YIF funding for the Creative and Digital 
Skills Centre was not achieved. The new youth 
centre at 57-59 High Street – part of the CDSC – 
will be delivered with only town deal funding. A 
review of the proposal for 63-65 High Street has 
been made to bring the overall project within 
budget. 
 
The funding from Liverpool City Region CA for the 
RSQ Enterprise facility is still unsecured, 
discussions are ongoing. 
 
Vacant possession of a shop on the High Street 
was secured in January 2024. 

To review all projects (program and budgets) to 
make key delivery decisions by September 2023. 

 No change since Quarter 3 update. 
 
 

 

Page 79

http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx


 
 
 

Ref Objective: To deliver Runcorn Station Quarter 

EEP 04 Environment and Urban Renewal 

 
 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

To provide a new station building by December 
2025  

Funding is still to be obtained from CRSTS for 
stage 5-8 (detailed design and build).  
Planning consent is also still to be obtained 

To progress an Ad Medium Filum application with 
DLA Piper for various pieces of land within the red 
line boundary 

 

 

On going 

 
 
 
 
 

Ref Objective 

EEP 05 

Corporate Resources: To maximise and maintain external funding resources 
To oversee the successful delivery of the Council's externally funded (economic regeneration) 
programmes, including employment, learning and skills and other schemes identified as corporate 
priorities.   

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

To establish the Programmes Office Team, 

ensuring the full team is in place and competent, 

with clear roles and responsibilities. 

 Team now at full complement; regular 
meetings held to ensure workloads and roles 
are understood. The Team has reviewed and 
changed systems where needed to ensure 
leaner working arrangements 
 

To establish/get endorsed a Business Justification 

Case for all bids over £50,000 to ensure the 

relevance and deliverability of externally funded 

schemes. All bids to be logged with the 

Programmes Office and all officers within the 

department to attend the Bid-Writing course 

before drafting any bids. 

 

 
 

Business Justification Case circulated to 
Directorate managers; meetings held with 3 
Directorate ODs; a number of meetings 
held/planned with DMs 

To ensure effective systems are in place and 
understood for the monitoring of the Town Deal 

 Monitoring systems well established; 
comprehensive Project Guide developed and 
distributed to project leads; bi-annual claim 

Page 80



programme to minimise the risk of clawback/non-
compliance 

being completed; DLUHC assurance 
documentation being completed and risk 
registers developed; regular meetings with 
Government rep. Currently further 
developing risk registers and project progress 
review systems. Also managing a Marketing 
and Comms commission for the 
Reconnecting Runcorn website. 

 
 

Ref Objective 

EEP 06 

Corporate Resources: To provide a comprehensive and strategic asset management service 
Manage the Council’s commercial and investment portfolio, implement the Council's disposal 
programme, support the Council's regeneration team for delivery of projects, provide asset valuation 
and associated financial reports to feed into the close down process. 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Commence re tender process July 2023 for the 

contract for external property consultants to 

provide provision of estate management service.  

 

 

Award and contract completed October 2023 
with commencement of the contract 13 January 
2024 

Complete the asset management reporting to 

meet the timetable of financial close down by 30 

April 2023. 

 

 

Reports were provided by 30 June to Finance 
and queries on reports by 9 July. Task was not 
completed by end of April. Work on the 
reporting for 2024 have started earlier in 
December 2023 
 

Commence the re tender process July 2023 for the 

contract to appoint property advisers to prepare 

asset valuations. 

 With support from colleagues in Procurement a 
direct award has been made under the Crown 
Civil Service framework to supplement the 
contract awarded for Estate Management 
Services. Contract awarded Feb 2024 
 

By 30 June commence marketing of 'hand back' 

sites in Widnes for disposal. 
 Site investigation reports have been completed 

and the impact of information supplied by 
United Utilities on the easements across the 
plots is being assessed by the marketing agents. 
The easements adversely affect the developable 
areas and in turn the capital receipt and level of 
potential business rates. Further discussions are 
ongoing with United Utilities which will delay 
the marketing of the sites further into 2024/25 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



 
 
 

EEP 09 
Corporate Priority: To design, manage and deliver a place-based business support programme for 
Halton 
 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Scheme in Place September 2023                           Internal procurement delays slowed down the 

commissioning of the service but with one 

exception the service is fully up-and-running 

now. 

Scheme finalised March 2025 
              

Scheme is now starting to deliver priorities and 
will meet targets by the end of 2024 - 2025. 

 
 
 

Ref Objective 

EEP 10 
Corporate Priority: Secure funding, support procurement and ground-breaking to take place for 
Ultraviolet at Sci Tech Daresbury 
Commissioning of Ultraviolet 

  
 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Funding Secured Q3 2023 / 2024  Discussions with the CA are ongoing in relation 
to Investment Zone funding however the earliest 
anticipated approval has now been pushed back 
to Q1 2024-25 

Procurement Q4 2023 / 2024  A procurement exercise has been completed by 
the Joint Venture using the Procure Partnerships 
Framework. 

Groundbreaking Q1 2024 2025 
 

The start on site is likely to be delayed by the 
funding situation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



Appendix 2: Progress Against Performance Indicators 

 

STRATEGIC 

ISSUES 

BASELINE 

POSITION 

OUTCOMES 

AT END OF 

YEAR 1 

OUTCOMES 

AT END OF 

YEAR 3 

INTERVENTIONS KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATORS 

High 
Unemployment 

2.7% of 
economically 
active people are 
unemployed 
(2021 Census) 

  HBC’s contribution: 
HPIJ delivery of 
Welfare to Work & 
Health programmes 
(Ways to Work, 
Restart, Work & 
Health, Pioneer 
Programme and 
Supported 
Internships 
Programme) 

Percentage 
unemployed (aged 
16-64 years).  
Percentage of 
economically inactive 
of working age 
 
 

Low wage 
residents 

Data not 
available from 
Census 21? 
 
Data from 
Adzuna – median 
salary in Halton 
is £26,000 which 
is 14.3% less 
than the national 
average of 
£30,000 
(although there 
has been a YOY 
increase of 8% in 
Halton) 

  Employers signing up 
to the LCR Fair 
Employment Charter 

Percentage of 
employees’ earnings 
below real living 
wage. 

Low-income 
households 

Data??   HBC’s contributions: 
HPIJ delivery of 
Welfare to Work & 
Health programmes 
(Ways to Work, 
Restart, Work & 
Health, Pioneer 
Programme and 
Supported 
Internships 
Programme). 
Better off 
calculations for HPIJ 
jobseekers. 
In work support to 
help low-income 
households increase 
their hours or 
change their job. 

Percentage 
employees who are 
local (FTE) employed 
on contract for one 
year or the whole 
duration of the 
contract, whichever is 
shorter. 

Good 
employment 

Data not 
available from 
Census 21? 

HPIJ unable 
to 
implement 
new 

 Employers signing up 
to the LCR Fair 
Employment Charter 
HBC’s contribution: 

Proportion of 
employed in 
permanent and non-

Page 83



Current Data 
from Adzuna – 
26.93% in 
Permanent 
Employment, 
9.68% in 
Contract 
Employment and 
63.39% 
unspecified 
 

employer 
engagement 
strategy due 
to staffing 
related 
issues 
highlighted 
above 
 

Employer 
Engagement Strategy 
to be updated to 
recognise and 
celebrate ‘good’ 
employers in the 
borough. 

permanent 
employment.  
Adzuna data?? 
 
 

(appropriate) 
External 
Funding 
Maximised 

Some bids are 
logged, some are 
not. 
 
No strategic view 
on whether bids 
should be made. 
 
Officers writing 
bids which can 
take then away 
from core work; 
not always using 
skills of 
Programmes 
Office. 

All potential 
bids 
registered 
on a 
Business 
Justification 
form. 
 
All relevant 
officers in 
Department 
trained in 
bid-writing. 
 
 

Increase in 
appropriate 
funding 
secured. 
 
No resource 
issues in 
delivering. 
 
No 
clawback 
issues. 

6 bid-writing courses 
p.a. scheduled. 
 
3 monitoring and 
evaluation courses 
p.a. scheduled. 
 
Central log of all bids 
maintained. 

to establish a 
Business Justification 
Case for all bids 
over £50,000 to 
ensure the relevance 
and deliverability of 
externally funded 
schemes – to be 
signed off monthly by 
OD. All bids to 
be logged with the 
Programmes Office 
and all officers within 
the Dept to attend 
the Bid-Writing 
course before 
drafting any bids. 

Climate change 
agenda and 
carbon 
emissions 

CO2 emissions 
for 2022/23 
amounted to 
8740 tonnes. 
 

Reduce 
emissions 
by 1% 

Reduce 
emissions 
by 5% 

Submit a funding bid 
and obtain funding 
to carry out 
decarbonisation 
works to various 
buildings. 
 
Continue to deliver 
the LED lighting 
replacement 
programme. 
 
Carry out further 
rationalisation of our 
property portfolio to 
reduce emissions. 
 
Help carry out 
education 
programme for 
officers and 
Members alike 

Percentage reduction 
in CO2 emissions 
from Council 
activities. The 
emissions for 2022/23 
were 6.29% lower 
than for the previous 
year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



OPERATIONAL 

ISSUES 

BASELINE 

POSITION 

OUTCOMES AT 

END OF YEAR 1 

OUTCOMES AT 

END OF YEAR 3 

INTERVENTIONS KEY 

PERFORMANCE 

INDICATORS 

Low skills 
levels in 
LSOAs are not 
being 
addressed in 
line with 
need. 

No. of 

unemployed of 

working age 

population 

compared to 

number of 

actual HBC 

Adult Learning 

enrolments 

(Top 5 LSOAs 

for 

unemployment) 

Central and 

West Bank – 

145 claimants, 

only 56 

enrolled (38%) 

Appleton and 

Halton View – 

100 claimants, 

only 35 

enrolled (35%) 

Grange – 95 

claimants, only 

17 enrolled 

(18%) 

Halton Lea – 90 

claimants, only 

30 enrolled 

(38%) 

Central and 
West Bank - 
43% 
Appleton and 
Halton View - 
40% 
Grange –25% 
Halton Lea – 
38% 
 
Q4 Update 
Central and 
West Bank 
41.5% 
 
Appleton 
38.6% 
 
Halton View 
40.7% 
 
Grange 45% 
 
Halton Lea 
46.1% 
 

Central and 
West Bank – 
48% 
Appleton and 
Halton View - 
45% 
Grange – 35% 
Halton Lea – 
43% 

HBC’s contribution: 
Targeted marketing 
of LSOAs – working 
with Customer 
Intelligence Team 
and use of Adzuna 
dashboard. 
Outreach and 
engagement 
schedule.  
 

To increase the 
number of Adult 
Learning 
enrolments from 
residents aged 
19+ living in 
Halton’s LSOA 
areas 

The number 
of HBC adult 
learning 
withdrawals 
has shown a 
year-on-year 
increase. 
Withdrawals 
adversely 
affect income 
levels. 

14% overall 

withdrawals in 

the year 21/22 

12% 
 
Q4 Update 
5% currently 
(academic year 
so far) 

10% HBC’s contribution: 
Early intervention 
for learner issues. 
Implementation of 
‘Extensions in 
Learning’ process. 
Reviewed 
onboarding process 
– distance learning. 

To reduce the 
number of 
withdrawals in 
the Adult 
Learning Service 

Halton adult 
Learner Voice 
does not 
consistently 
get used to 
promote the 
service 

19 limited 

detail success 

stories 

provided in 

21/22. Format 

does not 

12 
Meaningful 
case studies 

 
Q4 Update 
9 total – 6 
social media 

12 Annual marketing 
strategy.  
Promotional videos 
of learning. 
 
 

To increase the 
number of Adult 
Learning Case 
Studies produced 
each year 

Page 85



showcase 

effectively the 

impact of the 

service 

celebrations 
and 3 Learner 
of the month 
celebrations 
with half of the 
academic year 
to go. 

 

A reduction of 
HBC AEB 
funding due to 
performance 
levels only 
achieving 98% 

-£14,197.92 
(2% of overall 
budget)  

0% 
 
Q4 Update 
Currently at 
55.5% of total 
allocation with 
half of the 
academic year 
to go 

0% To increase 
enrolment numbers. 
To reduce 
withdrawals. 
To deliver more 
accredited provision. 

To reduce our 
Adult Education 
Budget threshold 
level, year on 
year 

Marketing and 
promotion of 
the Adult 
Learning 
Service is 
inconsistent 

10 Marketing 
events 
attended in 
21/22 

 38 
 
Q4 Update 
15 attended 
(10 in target 
wards) with 
half of the 
academic year 
to go 

38 Attendance at 
partner events 
Increased social 
media presence and 
followers. 
Increase to at least 
one marketing 
activity per week 
during term time. 

To deliver an 
annual 
programme of 
outreach and 
engagement 
adult learning 
activities 

Targeted 

employer 

engagement 

activity to 

increase the 

number of 

opportunities 

made 

available to 

HPIJ 

customers 

accessing 

employment 

programmes 

51 employer 
visits made by 
appointment  
272 sales calls 
made to 
employers   
35 speculative 
visits made to 
employers 
 

200  
2000 
 
Q4 update 
Unable to 
provide 
accurate data 
for end of year 
1 due to 
staffing related 
issue 
highlighted 
above    
 

300 

3000 

Targeted employer 
visits 
Targeted sales calls 
made to employers 
 

To review HPIJ 
Employer 
Engagement 
Strategy, 
implement 
improvements 
and increase the 
number of 
opportunities 
sourced by local 
employers for 
local residents 
 

Increase the 

number of 

Economically 

Inactive 

customers 

that we 

engage with 

on 

programmes 

not just for 

unemployed 

people 

12% of Ways to 
Work 
participants on 
programme 
were 
Economically 
Inactive  
 

25% 
 
Q4 update 
Achieved 23% 
at end of years 
(of Ways to 
Work 
participants on 
programme 
were 
Economically 
Inactive)  

75% Attendance at 
Jobcentres on a 
weekly basis 
(engaging with Work 
Coaches that 
support 
Economically 
Inactive customers) 
Attendance at 
partner/community 
events 
Attendance at Jobs 
Fairs  

‘Economically 
inactive 
individuals are 
those not in work 
and not actively 
seeking work 
(unlike 
unemployed 
individuals who 
are actively 
seeking work). 
Not all 
economically 
inactive 

Page 86



(focused on 

Economically 

Inactive) 

Increased social 
media presence and 
followers 
Community 

Engagement Plan 

and Outreach Based 

Approach  

 

individuals claim 
benefits. For 
those that do, 
this would     
include those 
claiming either 
“legacy” benefits 
or those within 
specific 
conditionality 
regimes in 
Universal Credit: 
The former 
includes 
Employment 
Support 
Allowance (ESA), 
Incapacity Benefit 
(IB) and Income 
Support (IS). The 
latter includes 
claimants within 
the Preparation 
Requirement or 
Work Focused 
Interview 
Requirement 
conditionality 
regimes. 

Marketing and 
promotion of 
HPIJ services 
for 
programmes 
that allow 
self-referrals 
is inconsistent  

Ad-hoc 
partnership 
working across 
the Borough  
Leaflets posters 
and and stands 
displayed 
across 
community 
venues for 
some 
programmes 
but not all  

48 
 
Q4 update 
Minimum of 50 
activities took 
place across 
the HPIJ team  
 

48 Attendance at 
Jobcentres on a 
weekly basis  
Attendance at 
partner/community 
events 
Attendance at Jobs 
Fairs  
Increased social 
media presence and 
followers 
Increase to at least 
four marketing 
activities per month 
 

To deliver an 
annual 
programme of 
outreach and 
engagement 
activities to 
market and 
promote HPIJ 
programmes that 
local residents 
can self-refer to  
 

Place Based 
Business 
Support 
Programme 
Delivered 
 
Targeted 
flexible place-
based 
business 
support for 
existing 
businesses 

Lead Officer 
nominated. 
 
Specialist 
advice 
commissioned 
in order to 
support 
businesses 

9 58 Diagnostic sessions 
performed by 
trained staff and 
appropriate support 
sources for the 
business. Specific 
support can include:  

 Strategy 

 Corporate 

Marketing 

 Procurement 

 Finance 

Diagnostic 
approved by CA 
April 2024. 
Business Start 
Website agreed 
March 2024. 

Page 87



with growth 
ambitions and 
employment 
potential 
which provide 
equitable 
access across 
the city 
region. To 
include all 
businesses 
including 
social 
enterprises 

 Access to 

funding 

 Business 

Start 

 Digital 

Marketing 

 
 
 

To provide 
support to 
Start-ups, with 
a focus on 
enterprise 
ready 
entrepreneurs 
(within 3 
months of 
establishing a 
business) and 
a focus on 
founders who 
are looking to 
employ 
people within 
24 months, 
export and/or 
generate high 
turnover 
growth. To 
include all 
businesses 
including 
social 
enterprises. 

This service is 
currently not 
delivered by 
Halton BC 

5 11 Business Starts being 
delivered in all 
sectors (non-
specialised) 

TBA by CA 

Programmes 
Office fully 
resourced 

Programmes 
Office 
established Oct 
1st, 2022. 
 
Two positions 
remain unfilled. 

Team fully 
recruited and 
operational. 
 
Programmes 
Office systems 
fully 
embedded in 
EEP Dept. 

Programmes 
Office systems 
fully established 
across the 
Council. 

Full team recruited. 
 
Roles and 
Responsibilities fully 
understood by Dept. 
 
New systems 
established – see 
strategic issue 
above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

to establish the 
Programmes 
Office Team, 
ensuring the full 
team is in place 
and competent, 
with clear roles 
and 
responsibilities. 

Page 88



Externally 
Funded 
schemes 
effectively 
monitored 

Programmes 
Office 
established as 
monitors of the 
Town Deal 
programme. 

Two claims 
successfully 
submitted and 
annual draw 
down received. 
 
GFAs issued to 
relevant 
projects. 
 
Roles and 
Responsibilities 
clearly 
allocated and 
understood. 

Six claims 
successfully 
submitted and 
annual 
drawdowns 
received. 
 
No 
clawback/issues. 
 
Audit issues 
successfully 
dealt with. 

Regular Town Deal 
catch ups with 
relevant staff. 
 
Roles allocated and 
understood within 
Programmes Office. 
 
Systems established 
to successfully 
record and complete 
claims. 

To ensure 
effective systems 
are in place and 
understood for 
the monitoring of 
the Town Deal 
programme to 
minimise the risk 
of clawback/non-
compliance. 

Reduction in 
Market 
occupancy 
levels 

Market Hall 
92% occupied 
at 31st Dec 2022 

Maintain 
occupancy at 
92% 

Increase 
occupancy to 
95% 

Continue to promote 
the Market as a 
positive location to 
trade from. 
 
Maintain 
competitive rental 
rates compared to 
other town centre 
rental costs 

The Market Hall 
occupancy is at 
87.6% as of 31st 
March 2024. The 
slight reduction is 
down to the 
continued 
difficult trading 
conditions. There 
have been a 
number of recent 
enquiries, so we 
are anticipating 
this figure 
increasing in due 
course. 

Reducing Ex-
Trader 
Market Debt. 

£29,833.69 as 
at 13th March 
2023 

Reduce debt 
by 5% 

Reduce debt by 
15% 

Continue to work 
with the finance 
recovery team to put 
payment plans in 
place. 
 
Continue to actively 
manage existing 
traders’ debt so they 
are not in debt if 
they decide to leave 
the Market. 
 

Percentage of Ex-
Trader debt 
outstanding. The 
figure at year end 
has increased 
slightly to 
£30,971, this is as 
a result of a 
couple of traders 
leaving within the 
year with some 
outstanding debt. 

Level of 
satisfaction 
with repair & 
maintenance 
service 
delivered via 
the FM team 

75% of surveys 
returned were 
rated as either 
good or 
excellent 

80% 
Of surveys 
returned rated 
as either good 
or excellent 
 

85% 
Of surveys 
returned rated 
as either good 
or excellent 

Issue questionnaires 
to building managers 
in order to rate the 
level of service 
provided. 
 
Continue to deliver a 
repairs and 
maintenance service 
in a timely manner, 
with quality 
contractors. 
 

Percentage of 
surveys returned 
in 2023/24 where 
the service was 
rated as either 
good or excellent 
was in excess of 
the 85% target 
figure. 

Page 89



Continue with the 
procurement of 
contractors, when 
necessary, based on 
best value principles. 

Continued 
Successful 
Delivery of 
Capital 
schemes if 
workload 
increases due 
to accelerated 
regeneration 

3 Projects 
Managers 
currently in 
post managing 
external 
consultants to 
help deliver 
various 
schemes  

90% of 
schemes 
delivered 
within the 
contractual 
completion 
date and 
within the 
contract sum. 

95% of schemes 
delivered within 
the contractual 
completion date 
and within the 
contract sum. 

Additional Lead 
Officer post created 
with Lead Officer 
now appointed. 
Currently 2 vacant 
project manager 
posts however, with 
1 agency surveyor 
covering in the 
interim. 
 
Increased use of 
consultants to help 
deliver various 
schemes 

Monitoring 
successful 
delivery of 
individual 
projects within 
work programme. 
Over 90% of 
projects 
completed were 
delivered on time 
and within the 
contract sum. 

Page 90



 

 
 

Policy, Planning and Transportation 

 
 

Ref Objective 

PPT 01 Local Transport Plan (LTP) Capital Programme – Deliver the LTP Capital Programmes to ensure 
that the transport system is maintained and developed to meets local needs. 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

To deliver the 2019/30 LTP Capital Programme 
March 2023. 

 
 

 
 

Ref Objective 

PPT 02 Highway programmed maintenance. 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Ensure continued unrestricted availability of the 
Highway network and to allow future maintenance 
to be delivered on a steady state, lifecycle planned 
basis. 

 
Footway resurfacing work completed, Dans 
Road, South Lane, Picow Street, Castlefields 
Avenue east, Prescot Road, Sea Lane, 
Ridgeway, Poplar Close Lapwing Grove, 
Derby Road, Stonebarn Lane. 

 
 
 

Ref Objective 

PPT 03 Highway Routine and reactive maintenance 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Continue to maintain the Highway Authorities 
statutory duties in accordance with Section 41 and 
58 of the Highways Act. 

 
Ongoing highway safety inspection 
continuing to maintain a safe and 
serviceable Highway.   
 

 
 
 

Page 91



 

Appendix 2: Progress Against Performance Indicators 

 
 
 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2022 / 23 
Target 

2023 / 24 
Quarter 4 
Position 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel 

Supporting 
Commentary 

 
 
 

PPT 
LI 
01 

Percentage of 
third party 
compensation 
claims due to 
alleged 
highway / 
footway 
defects 
successfully 
defended. 
Annual 
Calculation. 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

 
 

 Figures not available 

PPT 
LI 
02 

Net 
additional 
homes 
provided 

152 350 N/A N/A N/A Indicator monitored 
annually as at 1st 
April. Target is 350 
p.a. (2014 to 2037) as 
per the Delivery & 
Allocations Local Plan. 

PPT 
LI 
03 

Number of 
affordable 
homes 
delivered 
(gross) 

22 N/A N/A N/A N/A Indicator monitored 
annually as at 1st 
April. Target is 
expressed as a 
percentage of 
development on 
qualifying sites 
(subject to viability). 

Page 92



Appendix 2: Progress Against Performance Indicators 

 
 
 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2022 / 23 

Target 
2023 / 

24 

Quarter 
4 

Position 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel 

Supporting 
Commentary 

PPT 
LI 
06 

 No. of people 
killed or 
seriously 
injured (KSI) 
in road traffic 
collisions. (5 
Year Av.)  

28.8 N/A 26  

  

Continued 
drop in KSI 
numbers 
after recent 
plateauing 

PPT 
LI 
07 

 No. of 
children 
(<16) killed 
or seriously 
injured (KSI) 
in road traffic 
collisions. (5 
year Av.) 

4.2 N/A 3.2 
 

 

Child KSI 
numbers 
continue to 
fall. 
Historically 
very low 

PPT 
LI 
08 

 No. of people 
slightly 
injured in 
road traffic 
collisions. (5 
Year Av.)  

219 N/A 161 
 

 

Rolling 
average for 
slight 
casualties 
show a 
significant 
drop. 

PPT 
LI 
09 

 No. of people 
slightly 
injured in 
road traffic 
collisions.  

157 N/A 150 
 

 

Rolling 
average for 
slight 
casualties 
show a 
significant 
drop. 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

Policy, Planning and Transportation Page 21 of 35 

 

 
 

Waste and Environmental Improvement  

 
 
 

Key Objectives / milestones 
 
 

Ref Objective 

CE 06 Manage and Maintain the Borough’s green space areas so that they continue to function to their 
intended purpose.   

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Manage greenspace areas as per the agreed 
specification - March 2023. 

 
 

The Environment Services Division was able to 
deliver all works within the Council’s agreed 
specification for green space management. 

 
 
 

Ref Objective 

CE 07 Implementation of actions to ensure that the Council achieves its waste related targets and 
objectives. 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q4 
Supporting Commentary 

Continue to deliver communications and awareness 
raising initiatives to ensure that participation with 
the Council’s recycling services is maximised and 
that residents comply with the requirements of the 
Council’s Household Waste Collection Policy - 
March 2024. 

 
Activities to meet this objective have remained 

on-going. This includes the production and 

delivery of a booklet to Halton households 

providing information and advice on how to 

‘recycle right’ by setting out the details of the 

materials that residents can recycle at home in 

their blue bin or box. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



 

Policy, Planning and Transportation Page 22 of 35 

 

Appendix 2: Progress Against Performance Indicators 

 
 

Ref Description Actual 
2022/23 

Target 
2023/24 

Quarter 
4 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel 

Supporting Commentary 

CE LI 
12 

Residual 
household waste 
per household. 

625kg 625kg 591kg  
  

This is an estimated figure 
but it does show that 
household waste levels are 
lower than those in Q4 in the 
previous year. 
 

CE LI 
13 

Household waste 
recycled and 
composted. 

39.3% 40% 37%  

  

This is an estimated figure 
but it does show that 
recycling levels are slightly 
higher than in Q4 in the 
previous year, but the annual 
target will not be met. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 95



 

Policy, Planning and Transportation Page 23 of 35 

 

 
 

7.0 Financial Statements 

ECONOMY ENTERPRISE & PROPERTY DEPARTMENT 
 
Revenue Operational Budget at 31 March 2024 
 

 
 
 
Comments on the above figures 
 
Budget monitoring is undertaken on a monthly basis with budget holders to ensure that unapproved overspends 
are avoided, developing action plans to achieve efficiencies and address areas of budget pressure. 
 
Finance works closely with the department to manage and analyse underspending to identify potential savings 
that could help meet current and future years’ priorities. 

Annual Budget Actual Spend Variance 

(Overspend)

£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Employee Related Expenditure 5,611 5,453 158

Repairs & Maintenance 2,034 2,149 (115)

Premises    161 158 3

Energy & Water Costs 1,781 1,560 221

NNDR 738 635 103

Rents 195 297 (102)

Economic Regeneration Activities 19 15 4

Security 551 625 (74)

Supplies & Services 445 429 16

Supplies & Services - Grant 597 597 0

Grants to Voluntary Organisations 168 168 0

Capital Finance 60 60 0

Transfer to Reserves 592 592 0

Total Expenditure 12,952 12,738 214

Income

Fees & Charges Income -1,146 -1,210 64

Rent - Commercial Properties -878 -847 (31)

Rent - Investment Properties -44 -39 (5)

Rent - Markets -831 -802 (29)

Government Grant -1,260 -1,260 0

Reimbursements & Other Grant Income -718 -718 0

Schools SLA Income -299 -264 (35)

Recharges to Capital -305 -324 19

Transfer from Reserves -1,566 -1,566 0

Total Income -7,047 -7,030 (17)

Net Operational Expenditure 5,905 5,708 197

Recharges

Premises Support 2,006 2,006 0

Transport Support 23 25 (2)

Central Support 1,710 1,711 (1)

Asset Rental Support 1,266 1,266 0

Recharge Income -7,728 -7,728 0

Net Total Recharges -2,723 -2,720 (3)

Net Departmental Expenditure 3,182 2,988 194

Page 96



 

Policy, Planning and Transportation Page 24 of 35 

 

 
Comparison to Previous Quarter  

 
Economy, Enterprise & Property's outturn has reduced from a projected £0.397m under budget at Quarter 3 to 
£0.194m under budget at financial year end. There are two reasons for this.  
A rent review was carried out for Rutland House. As the rent review was later than the time frame specified in the 
lease agreement, the review was backdated to 2017 which incurred a cost £102k which was not projected in 
quarter 3. 
The final quarter of the year witnessed an increase in the repairs and maintenance programme. 

 
Supporting Information 
 
The Department consists of 154fte of which 66fte are core funded, with a staff turnover savings target of 

£0.134m, by carefully monitoring the accounts the department has used grant/external funding where possible to 

try and relieve the pressure on the core Council budget. Various projects have been identified and staff time has 

been charged accordingly. The Department has also delayed the recruitment of vacancies to help achieve a 

balanced budget. As a result, the employee expenses this year is £0.158m under budget at financial year-end.  

As inflation is running much higher than originally predicted at the time of budget setting, the department will be 
expected to absorb any price increases that may arise from within the budget allocations made.  This is proving 
difficult for repairs and maintenance due to the continued increase in the price of materials. The Repairs and 
Maintenance programme is constantly under review to keep within budget. However, the final quarter of the 
year has seen an increase in urgent repairs and maintenance, as a result the budget is £0.115m over budget.  
There is a risk that this budget will remain volatile in financial year 24/25 and will need to be reviewed on a 
regular basis. 
The energy costs budget increased significantly in 2023/24, as costs have not risen as much as expected the 

department is £0.221m under budget.  It is worth mentioning that costs are still £0.501m higher than 2022/23, 

which is an increase of nearly 50%. 

This financial year has witnessed an increase in security costs. This is due not only to inflation, but the need for 

additional security in Halton Lea, due to anti-social behaviour. The need for security at all locations is reviewed on 

a regular basis and if necessary, advice is provided from the Police.As in previous years, and the long recovery 

from the impact of the coronavirus pandemic, the financial challenges of commercial property rent continue to 

present a significant financial challenge, though the third and fourth quarter of the year has seen an increase in 

the amount of commercial property income. This is due to agency staff within Asset Management being able to 

focus on rent reviews and licence fees. There is also a focus within the team to fill the vacant properties within 

the portfolio. The budget reveals that the income target for commercial properties. was not achieved by 

£0.031m. Although this is offset by the reduction in vacant properties reducing the level of business rates payable 

by the Council. 

Due to adverse trading conditions in the retail sector which have been made worse due to inflation and increased 

utilities costs, the department is projecting to under achieve on market rental income targets this budget year. 

The occupancy rate is approximately 89%. We have seen a uplift of rental income in the final quarter of year. This 

could be due to the promotion of the service.The School Cleaning Service Level Agreement (SLA) is not covering 

its costs this year due to the need to employ agency staff to cover sickness and leave and the pay award. The 

demand for the service is also decreasing as schools move to Academies. A review of the service provided is 

currently being conducted. 

Approved 2023/24 Savings 
Please see Appendix A for details of progress towards achieving budget efficiency savings agreed by Council in 
February 2023. 

Page 97



 

Policy, Planning and Transportation Page 25 of 35 

 

 

ECONOMY ENTERPRISE & PROPERTY DEPARTMENT 

 
Capital Projects as of 31 March 24 

 

3MG - The substantive programme for 3MG in terms of land disposals is now 90%+ complete with up to 900,000 
square foot of development in the pipeline some of which will require professional support over the coming years 
which will continue this as an ongoing project. 
 
Murdishaw – HBC supported the capital works to the former Youth Centre/Boxing Club which has been brought 
back in to use as the Tea Tree Café, a community project supported by Onward Homes. The funding was provided 
to match fund Onward Homes contribution. A programme of improvements to the external facilities at Murdishaw 
Community Centre is currently being priced. 
 
Kingsway Learning Centre - The works to upgrade the public address system are now complete. 
 
Equality Act Improvement Works - All works included in the programme for 2023/24 have been completed. 
 
Property Improvements - All works included in the programme for 2023/24 have been completed. 
 
Waterloo Building, Runcorn -The demolition works are complete, there will be some retention monies due for 
payment next year circa £3k. 
 

Project Title

2023/24 

Capital 

Allocation

Actual

Total 

Allocation 

Remaining

£'000 £'000 £'000

3MG 24 16 8

Murdishaw 30 8 22

Kingsway Learning Centre Improved Facilities 32 32 0

Equality Act Improvement Works 289 289 0

Property Improvements 269 269 0

Waterloo Building Runcorn 109 109 0

Woodend Unit 10 Catalyst Industrial Estate 204 204 0

Police Station Demolition 406 406 0

Foundry Lane Residential Area 2,471 1,310 1,161

Runcorn Station Building Development 80 30 50

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 82 30 52

Runcorn Waterfront Residential 291 22 269

Changing Places 212 188 24

Runcorn Town Deal 2,303 1,829 474

Totals 6,802 4,742 2,060

2023/24 (Outturn)

Page 98



 

Policy, Planning and Transportation Page 26 of 35 

 

UKSF – Halton submitted an Investment Plan to the CA for three strands of its UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
programme – Town Centres; Local Culture, Arts and Heritage; Green, Resilient, Safe Communities. This amounts 
to £608k up to March 2025 and is a mix of capital and revenue.  
 
Woodend Unit 10 - The works are complete, and the tenants have moved in however the new gas connection is 
still outstanding and is due to be completed soon. This is not affecting the office space as the gas heating is just to 
the main warehouse area. 
 
Police Station demolition - The demolition works were completed some time ago. The overage payment has now 
been made. 
 
Foundry Lane – Foundry Lane is moving to a crucial stage with reserved matters to enable the beginning of 
construction on the site. Planning permission has been approved to allow the construction company to start on site 
in the near future. 
 
Changing Places - The works are complete, the final facility at Victoria Park has yet to be registered, this will be 
due very soon. 
 
Runcorn Town Deal - Work continues to develop and deliver all Runcorn Town Deal projects by March 2026. 
 
Runcorn Station Development 
A Cost Estimate Summary Report was produced by Network Rail providing two options as a way forward, Option 1 
a full scope of works (costing £1.5m for GRIP 3 validation and surveys and GRIP 4 outline design, approvals and 
close down), option 2 a phased approach (costing £480k, which is the total amount of development funding that 
we have available) 
It was decided to progress with the full scope of works so not to delay the programme further and potential for 
increased costs between stages 
 
A meeting with the LCR CA Capital Development Team took place to review Gateway 3 criteria to allow the 
project to access capital funding earlier in order to commit to full scope of works for outline design stage. 
Gateway criteria evidence has been submitted to LCR CA for review. 
 
 
 

Page 99



 

Page 27 of 35 
 

 
 
ECONOMY, ENTERPRISE AND PROPERTY DEPARTMENT    
 
APPENDIX A 
 

Ref. Service Area Net 
Budget 
£’000 

Description of 
Saving Proposal 

Savings Value Current 
Progress 

Comments 

23/24 
£’000 

24/25 
£’000 

25/26 
£’000 

EP1 Capital 

Works Team 

N/A Increase the level 

of fee income by 

increasing the 

percentage 

charged or 

charging by time, 

including those 

works not 

currently charged 

for. 

10 

 

0 

 

0 

 

 

 

On target. 

EEP4 Cleaning 

Services – 

Council 

Buildings 

580 Review cleaning 

arrangements, 

with a focus on 

only emptying 

bins and cleaning 

toilets daily.  

0 

 

100 0 

 

 

Until the 
accommodation 
review is 
complete, only 
limited savings 
will be made in 
2024/25 

EEP2 Caretaking & 

Security 

Services 

641 A review and 

restructuring of 

caretaking 

arrangements. 

 

Reduce security 

cover at Halton 

Lea to provide 

opening/closing 

and then static 

guarding 7.00am 

to 7.30pm 

Monday to Friday, 

and 9.30am to 

3.00pm on 

Saturdays to cover 

the opening hours 

of Halton Direct 

Link. 

 

 

0 

 

 

35 

 

 

 

52 

 

 

0 

0 

 

 

0 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Restructure will 
take place in 
24/25. It is 
anticipated the 
full saving will not 
be met in year. 
 
 
Cannot achieve 
savings for 
security due to 
anti-social 
behaviour in 
Halton Lea. Police 
have advised 
security is kept on 
site until this is 
resolved.   

Page 100



 

Page 28 of 35 
 

EEP5 Corporate 

Buildings 

927 Generate 

additional rental 

income by 

providing 

additional office 

space for external 

organisations at 

Rutland House, by 

letting out the 

remaining three 

floors. 

120 

 

0 

 

 

0 

 

 

 
 

Reflected in 
2023/24 budget. 

EEP6 Facilities 

Management 

165 Restructure the 

team in light of an 

expression of 

interest for 

retirement. 

44 0 

 

0 

 

 

Reflected in 
2023/24 budget. 

EEP8 Technical 
Support & 
Market Team 

392 Restructuring of 

the team 

98 

 

 

0 

 

0 

 

 
 

Reflected in 
2023/24 budget. 

Total Economy, Enterprise & Property Department 307 152 0   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 101



 

Page 29 of 35 
 

COMMUNITY & GREENSPACE  
Revenue Budget as at 31 March 2024 
 
 

 
 
 
Comments on the above figures 
 
The net departmental expenditure is £1.808m under budget at the end of the 2023/24 financial year. 
 
Spend on employees is £0.721m under the annual budget.  Management-level restructures have taken place 
across the Department during the year, with further a further restructure taking place within the Community 
Safety Division, and another underway within the Stadium and Catering Division.  In order to facilitate these 
restructures, posts have been held vacant on a temporary basis, leading to a reduction in costs.  There have also 
been difficulties recruiting to certain roles due to a lack of qualified applicants, which has led to some posts being 
vacant for longer than planned. 
 

Annual Budget Actual Spend Variance 

(Overspend)

£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Employees 16,785 16,064 721

Premises 3,913 3,321 592

Supplies & Services 1,446 1,740 (294)

Hired & Contracted Services 963 1,121 (158)

Book Fund 140 140 0

Food Provisions 371 353 18

School Meals Food 1,965 2,221 (256)

Transport 117 123 (6)

Waste Disposal Contracts 6,885 5,623 1,262

Grants to Voluntary Organisations 170 142 28

Grant to Norton Priory 174 174 0

Other Agency Costs 498 477 21

Other Expenditure 61 79 (18)

Transfers to Reserves 459 459 0

Total Expenditure 33,947 32,037 1,910

Income

Sales Income -1,305 -1,244 (61)

Fees & Charges Income -5,099 -5,248 149

Rental Income -213 -236 23

Government Grant Income -1,132 -1,135 3

Reimbursements & Other Grant Income -876 -912 36

School SLA Income -2,061 -2,081 20

School Meals Income -3,576 -3,427 (149)

Internal Fees Income -418 -406 (12)

Capital Salaries -166 -96 (70)

Transfers from Reserves -78 -78 0

Total Income -14,924 -14,863 (61)

Net Operational Expenditure 19,023 17,174 1,849

Recharges

Premises Support 1,825 1,825 0

Transport 2,046 2,087 (41)

Central Support 3,856 3,856 0

Asset Rental Support 3,006 3,006 0

HBC Support Costs Income -540 -540 0

Net Total Recharges 10,193 10,234 (41)

Net Departmental Expenditure 29,216 27,408 1,808

Page 102



 

Page 30 of 35 
 

Spend on premises costs is £592k under budget in 2023/24.  The Department was provided with an increase of 
£1.2m in utility budgets for 2023/24, based on an estimated increase in energy bills, however, the actual increase 
in costs was not as high as anticipated.  Additionally, £0.126m of credits for prior-year gas costs were received 
by the Department following a reconciliation of energy bills which has increased the level of the underspend 
significantly.  This underspend is unlikely to occur in future years as utility budgets have been reduced for 
2024/25. 
 
Both Supplies & Services, and Hired & Contracted Services budgets show a significant overspend in 2023/24.  This 
is a budget pressure throughout the Department and is primarily caused by inflationary cost increases of key 
goods and services over recent years.  Software and other essential licence costs now far exceed the budget 
available, with an overspend of £0.062m occurring in 2023/24.  Difficulties in recruiting to some technical roles 
within the Brindley Theatre have necessitated a large increase in consultancy costs, with spend exceeding 
£0.074m, although this needs to be considered alongside an underspend on contracted staff.   
 
School Meals food costs have been severely impacted by the high rate of inflation on food ideas during the last 
12 months.  Expenditure increased by 10% from 2022/23 despite a decrease in the number of schools which 
contract with the service. 
 
Waste Disposal Contract costs are £1.262m under budget during 2023/24.  £0.996m of this underspend relates 
to a refund received following Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority carrying out a reconciliation of the 
total contract costs for prior years across the Liverpool City Region.  The percentage of contract costs charged to 
Halton has reduced in recent years, meaning that it is likely that this refund is a one-off occurrence.  The 
remaining £0.266m of the underspend relates to 2023/24.  Although costs did increase slightly from 2022/23, 
this increase was smaller than anticipated given current high levels of inflation. 
 
Sales Income is £0.061m below the income target in 2023/24, primarily due to a shortfall in catering and bar 
sales at the Stadium.  School Meals Income is also significantly under the budget target.  2024/25 is the final year 
of operation for the School Meals service, so this will cease to be a budget pressure in the medium- and long-
term. 
 
Fees and Charges income is £0.149m above the target budget in 2023/24.  There were significant increases in 
the income generated by the Leisure Centres as the service continued to recover from the impacts of Covid-19.  
In addition to this, management have introduced new recruitment initiatives over the last 12 months which has 
led to an increase in the number of swimming instructors, allowing more income to be generated.  Income at the 
Brindley also increased during the last financial year, with the theatre once again managing to cover its operating 
costs. 
 
There was a shortfall of Capital Salary income in year, primarily due to difficulties recruiting to Landscape 
Architect roles.  It is anticipated that income will increase in 2024/25 after a successful round of recruitment 
towards the end of 2023/24. 
 
Inflationary increases in fuel and repair costs have resulted in an overspend of £0.041m on Transport Recharge 
budgets.   

Page 103



 

Page 31 of 35 
 

Capital Projects as at 31 March 2024 
 

 

2023/24 Capital 
Allocation Actual 

Total Allocation 
Remaining 

 Project Title £'000 £'000 £'000 

Stadium Minor Works 34 31 3 
Open Spaces Schemes 850 314 536 
Children’s Playground Equipment 107 107 0 
Upton Improvements 13 0 0 
Crow Wood Park Play Area 12 1 11 
Landfill Tax Credit Schemes 340  0  340 
Town Park 284 125 159 
Spike Island / Wigg Island 1,023 54 969 
Pickerings Pasture Café 520 17 503 
Litter Bins 20 20 0 
Halton Leisure Centre 15,057 17,260 (2,203) 
Brookvale Recreation Centre Pitch 28 13 15 

TOTAL 18,288 17,942 346 

 
Comments on the above figures 
 
Stadium Minor Works 
A stage, lighting equipment, and crowd barriers have been purchased in year, allowing additional events to be 
held at the Stadium. 
 
Open Spaces Schemes 
This covers a variety of smaller schemes which are all fully-funded from external sources.  In 2023/24, projects 
included work on the Sankey Canal, improvements at Birchfield Gardens, and work on the dog exercise area at 
Hale Park. 
 
Children’s Playground Equipment 
This is an ongoing project which includes spend on improvements within the Borough’s playgrounds. 
 
Town Park 
The scheme includes the renewal of footpaths and landscape improvements within Town Park.  The next phase 
of work is due to continue during 2024/25. 
 
Spike Island / Wigg Island 
Consultants have now been appointed and the scheme is underway. 
 
Pickerings Pasture Café 
Site investigation works are currently ongoing to inform the foundation design.   
 
Halton Leisure Centre 
Work on the new leisure centre has progressed well.  The contractor is slightly ahead of schedule, which has 
caused the payments made in 2023/24 to exceed the original allocation, and it is anticipated that the building 
will be handed over to the Council in the final quarter of 2024/25.  The additional expenditure in 2023/24 will 
be funded by a reduction in the anticipated expenditure during the next financial year. 
 
Brookvale Recreation Centre Pitch 
Work on the pitch is complete and the retention payment was made in 2023/24. 
 
 
 

Page 104



 

Page 32 of 35 
 

PLANNING, PROVISION & TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT 
 

Revenue Operational Budget as at 31 March 24 
 

 
 
 
 

Annual Budget Actual Spend Variance 

(Overspend)

£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Employees 4,957 4,986 (29)

Efficiency Savings -100 -100 0

Premises 211 145 66

Hired & Contracted Services 356 605 (249)

Supplies & Services 225 327 (102)

Other Expenditure 0 0 0

Street Lighting 2,025 1,685 340

Highways Maintenance - Routine & Reactive 1,699 1,595 104

Highways Maintenance - Programmed Works 565 568 (3)

Fleet Transport 1,410 1,475 (65)

Bus Support - Halton Hopper Tickets 52 14 38

Bus Support 458 458 0

Capital Financing 0 0 0

Grants to Voluntary Organisations 31 30 1

NRA Levy 73 71 2

LCR Levy 1,059 1,059 0

Contribution to Reserves 1,427 1,427 0

Contribution to Reserves 14,448 14,345 103

Income

Sales & Rents Income -101 -67 (34)

Planning Fees -738 -470 (268)

Building Control Fees -242 -183 (59)

Other Fees & Charges -916 -1,065 149

Grants & Reimbursements -562 -525 (37)

Government Grant Income -262 -262 0

Halton Hopper Income -54 -23 (31)

Recharge to Capital -280 -113 (167)

LCR Levy Reimbursement -1,059 -1,059 0

Contribution from Reserves -531 -531 0

Efficiency Savings 0 0 0

Total Income -4,745 -4,298 (447)

Net Operational Expenditure 9,703 10,047 (344)

Recharges

Premises Support 509 509 0

Transport 591 668 (77)

Central Support 1,432 1,432 0

Asset Rental Support 10,157 10,157 0

HBC Support Costs Income -885 -885 0

Transport Recharge Income -3,764 -4,222 458

Net Total Recharges 8,040 7,659 381

Net Departmental Expenditure 17,743 17,706 37

Page 105



 

Page 33 of 35 
 

Comments on the above figures 
Department net spend came in at £0.037m under budget at the end of the 23/24 financial year. 
Budget holders have worked closely with the Finance Officer to ensure a balanced budget is achieved.  
Wherever possible capital expenditure has been prioritised in order to relieve pressure on the revenue 
budgets. 
Employee expenditure was over budget at year end because of an increase in the number of agency staff due 
to the amount of vacancies within the area.  The 2023/24 pay award has been included in the employee 
figures.  Casual staff utilised within the client transport team has also increased but this has been offset by an 
overachievement of recharge income further down the report. 
Supplies and services and also contracted services are over budget as in previous years due to survey costs and 
plans that have been required in the Planning division.  Halton also has a contract with MEAS (Merseyside 
Environmental Advisory Service) which is hosted by Sefton LA.  This is used to provide Halton with advice in 
relation to ecology, waste, environmental impact assessments and local plans.  To have this advice internally 
would cost Halton more than the contract, but at the moment, it is significantly over the allocated budget.   
Street lighting expenditure has come in under budget despite an increase in costs over the last few financial 
years.  In order to help reduce running costs, lights are being turned off 12am – 6am on some routes.  There 
remains a capital street lighting upgrade programme in place with the intention the remaining upgrades will be 
taking place soon.  Due to all of the above expenditure has managed to come in within budget and will be 
closely monitored going forwards into the new financial year. 
Highways maintenance budgets have come in under target which is in part due to utilising capital funding 
wherever appropriate.  The report is broken down into routine and reactive schemes and also programmed 
works so that the two areas can be looked at in more detail.  Programmed works came in slightly over budget 
but has been offset by routine and reactive. 
Fleet transport has come in over budget which in turn has an impact on the costs recharged out to other areas 
of the authority.  It is still worth noting that the Council has seen a large continued increase in costs for fuel and 
parts, also the time it takes from placing an order and receiving the goods has grown. 
Sales and rent income has come in under target due to an underachievement of mot testing and taxi testing 
income.  As previously reported Covid-19 is still playing a part in income generation at Lowerhouse Lane Depot 
due to DfT suspending MOT requirements for 6 months during the lockdown periods.  Due to a lack of staff the 
depot was unable to meet the demand for vehicle tests and therefore customers went to other garages and 
haven’t returned.   
Planning income came in lower than anticipated.  This is due to a number of factors, the planning income 
target was increased in order to fund additional staff who would process pre-application and planning 
performance agreements.  To date the department has not managed to successfully recruit to these posts and 
therefore have been unable to realise the income target.  In addition to this, the number of major applications 
that the LA has seen in previous years have not been replicated in this financial year.  Building control income 
has also seen a reduction in applications in this financial year, which has then had an effect on the amount of 
income generated.   
Other fees and charges has come in over target due to an increase in the number of permits.  An agency 
worker is employed who has been throughout the Borough and issued fines for breaches of permit conditions 
which also generated additional income. 
The recharge of salaries to capital schemes again did not achieve its income target this financial year due to a 
lack of traditional capital projects, and therefore there is less opportunity to capitalise.  There is a relationship 
between the under achievement of income and the lack of staff within the Highways division which means staff 
are not available to carry out works on capital schemes.  In the 24/25 budget this income target has been 
reduced. 
Transport income recharges are overachieved but these are offset by overspends in the other departments as 
mentioned above in fleet transport costs.  An increase in income has meant that these areas have had 
increased costs for the maintenance of vehicles. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 

Page 34 of 35 
 

Capital Projects as at 31 March 2024 

 
 
 
 
Comments on the above figures  
CRSTS (City Region Sustainable Travel Settlement) replaced the historical grant funding from the DfT.  It is 
broken down into various areas such as carriageway maintenance, footway maintenance, street lighting and 
structures.  Expenditure was low in Q1 and Q2 with a pickup across Q3 and Q4.  However, due to a large 
increase in allocation between 22/23 and current 23/24 financial year there is a significant underspend. 
Runcorn Busway has now almost finished, the grant is fully spent and the department is anticipating the gap to 
be funded via LCR but confirmation is pending. 
The East Runcorn Connectivity (ERC) project is currently being redefined which will focus on the major 
maintenance of the A56 and 5 active travel links within Halton.  The scheme is on track and communication is 
in place with LCR to secure additional funding for detailed design and full costing profiling.  This included 
consultation with members, shareholders and the public which took place back in October 23.  There is an 
agreement in place between LCR and Halton that further funding of £1.1m over and above the initial grant 
allocation will be awarded and the department is currently waiting for the GFA to be signed off.  Therefore the 
current overspend will be offset by additional funding as and when it is agreed. 
The A56 project is in support of the new junction completion for the Redrow development which overlaps with 
the ERC scheme mentioned above.  Further progress is expected to be made in late summer. 
Dukesfield ATL (Waterloo Bridge) came in over budget, however, it has been agreed with Liverpool City Region 
(LCR) that they will fund £1.2m and the difference of £318k can be offset with the CRSTS underspend.  The 
department is waiting to hear how this will be processed. 
 
LCWIP Phase 2 (Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan) Runcorn to Daresbury is currently underway on 
Long Benton Way.  A change request was submitted to LCR as reported in Q3 due to the expenditure not being 
expected to reach £5.7m,  but a response has not yet been received.   
Street lighting and lighting upgrades expenditure is over budget but the difference will be funded from a 
reduction in allocation in 24/25 so will be offset. 
Liverpool City Region is yet to confirm funding for a number 

Project Title

2023/24 

Capital 

Allocation

Actual Total 

Allocation 

Remaining

£'000 £'000 £'000

Local Transport Plan

Total Bridge & Highway Maintenance 3,133 1,406 1,727

Integrated Transport 549 12 537

CRSTS 7,140 2,983 4,157

Runcorn Busway 239 556 (317)

East Runcorn Connectivity (ERC) 1,577 2,238 (661)

A56 Reconstruction (Delph Lane) 947 3 944

Dukesfield ATL (Waterloo Bridge) 0 1,518 (1,518)

LCWIP Phase 2 Daresbury 5,783 1,921 3,862

ATF3 Murdishaw to Whitehouse 3,000 611 2,389

ATF4 Widnes Town Centre Accessibility 122 1 121

Total Local Transport Plan 22,490 11,249 11,241

Halton Borough Council Schemes

Street Lighting 50 100 (50)

Lighting Upgrades 300 423 (123)

Risk Management 100 58 42

Fleet Vehicles 2,500 1,430 1,070

SUD Green Cycle 0 2 (2)

Widnes Loops 0 91 (91)

Total Halton Borough Council Schemes 2,950 2,104 846

Totals 25,440 13,353 12,087

Page 107



 

Page 35 of 35 
 

 
8.0 Application of Symbols 
 
 

Symbols are used in the following manner: 

Progress Symbols 

Symbol Objective Performance Indicator 

Green  

Indicates that the objective is on course 
to be achieved within the appropriate 
timeframe. 

Indicates that the annual target is 
on course to be achieved. 

Amber 
 

Indicates that it is uncertain or too early 
to say at this stage whether the 
milestone/objective will be achieved 
within the appropriate timeframe. 

Indicates that it is uncertain or too 
early to say at this stage whether 
the annual target is on course to be 
achieved 

Red 
 

Indicates that it is highly likely or certain 
that the objective will not be achieved 
within the appropriate timeframe. 

Indicates that the target will not be 
achieved unless there is an 
intervention or remedial action 
taken. 

 

Direction of Travel Indicator 

Green 
 

Indicates that performance is better as compared to the same period last year. 

Amber 
 

Indicates that performance is the same as compared to the same period last 
year. 

Red 
 

Indicates that performance is worse as compared to the same period last year. 

N / A N / A Indicates that the measure cannot be compared to the same period last year. 

 

Page 108



REPORT TO: 

 

Environment and Urban Renewal Policy and 
Performance Board 

 

DATE: 

 

 
18th September 2024 

REPORTING OFFICER: 

 

Executive Director, Environment and Regeneration 
 

PORTFOLIO: 

 

Environment & Urban Renewal 

SUBJECT: 

 

Performance Management Reports for Quarter 1 
of 2024/25 
 

WARD(S) 

 

Boroughwide 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  To consider, and to raise any questions or points of clarification, in 
respect of performance management for the first  quarter period to 
30th June 2024.   
 

1.2 Key priorities for development or improvement in 2024-25 were 
agreed by Members for the various functional areas reporting to the 
Board as detailed below: 
 

 Development and Investment Services 

 Highways and Transportation, Logistics and 
Development Services 

 Waste and Environmental Improvement and Open 
Space Services 

 
The report details progress made against objectives and milestones 
and performance targets and provides information relating to key 
developments and emerging issues that have arisen during the 
period. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION:  That the Policy & Performance Board: 
 

1) Receive the first quarter performance management report;  

 

2) Consider the progress and performance information and 

raise any questions or points for clarification; and   

 

3) Highlight any areas of interest and/or concern where further 

information is to be reported at a future meeting of the 

Board.  

 

 

 

Page 109 Agenda Item 7b



3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 
 

Departmental objectives provide a clear statement on what services 
are planning to achieve and to show how they contribute to the 
Council’s strategic priorities. Such information is central to the 
Council’s performance management arrangements and the Policy 
and Performance Board has a key role in monitoring performance 
and strengthening accountability.   

 
4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

There are no policy implications associated with this report.  
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.  
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES  
 

6.1 All Key Performance Indicators relate directly to the following 
Council’s priorities: 
 

 Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 

 Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 

 Supporting Children, Young People and Families 

 Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most In Need 

 Working Towards a Greener Future 

 Valuing and Appreciating Halton and Our Community 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 At the time at which Annual Business Plans are developed 
Directorate Risk Registers are also refreshed and updated. 
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

 
8.1 None identified. 

 

9.0 CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 
 

None identified. 
 

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

None under the meaning of the Act. 

 
 

Page 110



 
Reporting Period: 1st April to 31st March 2024 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 This report provides an overview of issues and progress against key service objectives/milestones and 

performance targets, during the first quarter of 2024 / 25 for service areas within the remit of the Environment 
and Urban Renewal Directorates (EUR) Policy and Performance Board. 

 
1.2 Key priorities for development or improvement in 2024 - 25 were agreed by Members and included in 

Directorate Plans, for the various functional areas reporting to Environment and Urban Renewal Directorates 

(EUR) Policy & Performance Board i.e. 
 

 Economy, Enterprise & Property  extracts for  
       Development & Investment Services incl Regeneration and External Funding  

 

 Policy, Planning & Transportation extracts for  
Highways & Transportation, Logistics & Transport Management (incl. Road Safety), and Building 
Control & Contaminated Land. 

 

 Community & Environment  extracts for  
         Waste & Environmental Improvement  

           Open Spaces ( incl. Cemeteries &  Crematoria) 
 
 
1.3 The way in which traffic light symbols have been used to reflect progress to date is explained within Section 5 

of this report. 

 
1.4 Corporate Priorities 
 
 

 

 

Environment & Urban Renewal PPB – Priority Based Monitoring Report Q1 

Page 111



  
 

2.0 High Priority Equality Actions 

 
2.1 Equality issues continue to form a routine element of the Council’s business planning and operational decision 

making processes. Additionally the Council must have evidence to demonstrate compliance with the Public 
Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which came into force in April 2011.  

 
2.2 The Councils latest annual progress report in relation to the achievement of its equality objectives is published 

on the Council website and is available via: 
http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx 
 

 

3.0 Performance Overview 

 
The following information provides a synopsis of progress for both milestones and performance indicators across the 
key business areas that have been identified by the Directorate. 
 
 

Development & Investment Services incl 
Regeneration and External Funding 

 
Key Objectives / milestones 
 

Corporate 
Priority 

Priority 2 – Building a strong sustainable local economy. 
Regeneration 

EEP 01 Regeneration of Widnes Town Centre 

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Secure Liverpool City Region (LCR) capacity funding 
by June 2024  

Approved in principle, waiting for the legal 
agreement from LCR. 

Develop & agree project brief by the end of June 
2024 
 
 

 Discussions to develop the brief have 
commenced and should be concluded by end of 
July 2024.  Additional work has been identified 
to support the work and further budget is being 
finalised. 

Start procurement process in July 2024 
  

This will be slightly delayed due to the time 
required to develop the brief and secure 
additional funding. A new member of staff 
starting 1st August will pick up this work. 

Agree first draft of Framework - March 2025  On Track 

Present Widnes Town Centre Regeneration 
Framework to Town Panel by March 2025 

 On Track 

 
 

Page 112

http://www4.halton.gov.uk/Pages/councildemocracy/Equality-and-Diversity.aspx


  

Corporate 
Priority 

Priority 2 – Building a strong sustainable local economy 
Regeneration 

EEP 02 Regeneration of Runcorn Town Centre  

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Board member submission to DLUHC by 1st June.  
 

 Information submitted to DLUHC. Currently 
waiting for feedback and approval confirmation 
which has been delayed due to the General 
Election. 

Submission to DLUHC by 1st November 2024  Currently procuring consultants to provide 
consultancy support and public engagement 
work to ensure the submission is completed by 
1st November deadline. 

Agree 10 year vision and 3 year investment plan by 
March 2025 
 

  

 

On Track 

 

 
 

Corporate 
Priority 

Priority 2 – Building a strong sustainable local economy 
Regeneration 

EEP 03 Support development & growth at Sci-tech Daresbury 

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Assist JV to secure funding from the CA by July 2024 
 

 Currently at SOC stage with CA panels. Project 
Violet Phase 2 is in the first tranche of projects 
approved by CA.  

Secure Investment Zone funding by September 2024 
  

As above, currently in CA approval process with 
Full Business Case approval anticipated in Q3. 

Commence delivery of Project Violet Phase 2 – 
October 2024 

 

 Start on site is unlikely to be by October 2024 
due to an increase in the viability gap which will 
require additional funding 

Confirm funding arrangements for long term 
expansion by December 2024 

 

 
 

The use of the Enterprise Zone Funding 
mechanism is likely to be able to support the 
costs of the land acquisition for the long-term 
expansion of the campus. 

Report to Exec Board Q3 2024-25 
 

 Work is ongoing to compile the necessary 
supporting documentation for a report in Q3.  

Agreed funding package for Project Violet by 
September 2024  

Work is ongoing on the overall package, but it is 
unlikely this will be finalised by September due 
to the viability issues and the need to secure 
additional funding via the CA. 

Page 113



  
 
 

Corporate 
Priority 

Priority Six – Valuing and Appreciating Halton and our Community 
Regeneration 

EEP 04 
Providing new homes that meet Halton’s needs 
 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

 Sign the MOU by August 2024 
 

 
At its meeting on 11th July 2024, Executive 
Board approved entering into a Strategic Place 
Partnership Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with partners, leading to production of a 
Business Plan and new governance 
arrangements to be established. 
See Report: Liverpool City Region Strategic 
Place Partnership.pdf (halton.gov.uk) 

Agreeing Halton’s Place Priorities by September 
2024  
 

 
At its meeting on 11th July 2024, Executive 
Board provided delegated authority to the 
Director of Economy, Enterprise  
and Property, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder Climate Change, to agree details for the 
formation of the Strategic Place Partnership 
and finalise Halton’s Priorities. Halton Place 
Priorities were presented as a draft ‘Place on a 
Page’ to Executive Board.  

Establish Place Group by October 2024 
 

 
The Halton Place Group is Officer level meeting 
held quarterly with representation from the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority LCR 
CA) and Homes England (HE). This Group will be 
chaired by the Director of Economy, Enterprise 
and Property. Council Officer representation on 
the Halton Place Group has now been agreed. 
Awaiting confirmation from LCR CA to confirm 
Place Group meeting cycle, First meeting 
anticipated in October 2024. 

Produce a housing project pipeline, in line with 
Halton Place Priorities, by March 2025 

 

 
Housing project pipeline will reflect the 
priorities identified within the Halton ‘Place on 
Page’. Pipeline drafting has commenced, 
awaiting information requirements from LCR CA 
to progress. 

Secure first draft of Housing Strategy by March 2025 
  

At its meeting on 18th August 2024, Executive 

Board approved production of a new Borough 

wide Housing Strategy and supporting evidence 

base. The Procurement process for specialist 

consultants is now in its final stages.  

Page 114

https://councillors.halton.gov.uk/documents/s77279/Liverpool%20City%20Region%20Strategic%20Place%20Partnership.pdf
https://councillors.halton.gov.uk/documents/s77279/Liverpool%20City%20Region%20Strategic%20Place%20Partnership.pdf


  

Once the consultant is procured we will get a 

timeframe for the first draft.  

See Report: 
ProductionofBoroughwideHousingStrategy.pdf 
(halton.gov.uk) 

Production of Housing Strategy by March 2025 
 

As above 

 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Two – Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy 
Business Investment & Growth 

EEP 05 
 To provide support to all Halton’s businesses and encourage start-ups. 
 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Deliver four sector network 
events and two business events 
by March 2025 
 

 
The Green Growth Network met in the first quarter of this year and 
the Advanced Manufacturing network is working towards a 
bespoke project to improve advanced manufacturing capacity in 
Halton and the City Region.  
Partners and businesses have been approached to develop the 
logistics network proposal and a plan is in place for the ICT 
network. 
This work is spearheaded with a Halton Economic Forum planed for 
September 2024 with a second in February 2025. 

Carry out 150 diagnostics by 
March 25 
 

 
The systems are in place by the end of quarter 1 to deliver 
diagnostics and diagnostics are being delivered with pace picking 
up to deliver the target. 

Provide support to forty-seven 
town centre businesses by March 
25 
 

 
A diagnostic process and accompanying paperwork are 
commissioned and agreed which is bespoke to town centre 
business support. An audit is underway with a view to creating a 
sample frame to choose businesses for diagnostics from. The 
programme will be delivered from the autumn. 

Provide support to 67 Halton 
businesses by March 25 

 
On course for delivery with 23 businesses supported by the end of 
the first quarter. 

Provide support to 114 
businesses across the Borough 
by March 2025 

 
On course for delivery with the programmes combined. 

Support sixteen business 
startups by March 2025 

 
Four businesses started in the first quarter and on track for 
delivery. 

 
 
 

Page 115

https://councillors.halton.gov.uk/documents/s76430/ProductionofBoroughwideHousingStrategy.pdf
https://councillors.halton.gov.uk/documents/s76430/ProductionofBoroughwideHousingStrategy.pdf


  

Corporate Priority Priority One – Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
Programmes Office 

EEP 06 
Maximise new external funding opportunities and effectively manage and monitor 
existing funding programmes 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Produce monthly funding bulletins. 
 

 Monthly funding bulletins continue to be 
produced and widely disseminated 

Deliver quarterly training sessions for colleagues. 
 

 Training session delivered for colleagues in 
June 2024, next session due Sep/Oct 2024 

Submit compliant claims for all grant programmes  Compliant quarterly claims submitted for 
Town Deal, UK Shared Prosperity Fund, 
Destination Marketing Programme and Ways 
to Work 

Report annual financial position to Corporate PPB in 
July 2024  
 

 
Report will be presented to the Corporate 
PPB on Sept 3rd  

Produce a pipeline of future regeneration projects to 
maximise the potential to secure future funding by 
October 2024 

 

 Regeneration Pipeline currently being 
developed for a deadline of 30th Sept. 

Agree pipeline with members and the CA by March 
2025  

On Track 

Produce project pipeline spreadsheet by March 2025 
 

See above – duplicate Milestone 

 
 
 

Corporate Priority Priority One – Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence. 
Priority Two – Building a Strong, Sustainable Local Economy. 
Priority Three – Supporting Children, Young People and Families. 
Priority Four - Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most in Need. 
Priority Five – Working Towards a Greener Future. 

Priority Six - Valuing and Appreciating Halton and our Community 
Planning & Development 

 EEP 13 
Create and maintain statutory plans, generated through community consultation, 
that guide decisions on future development proposals and address the needs and 
opportunities of the area 

 
 
 

Page 116



  

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Delivery during the plan period (2037)  Local Development Strategy agreed 6 SPD’s 
identified within the work programme and 
quarterly updates given  

As per Local Plan Monitoring Framework & Annual 

Monitoring Report 
 Annual AMR reporting to Environment and 

Urban renewal PPB reported on time.  

 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Two – Building a Strong Sustainable Local Economy. 
Planning & Development 

EEP 14 Providing new homes that meet Halton’s needs 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Granting of planning permission for housing and 

other forms of accommodation  
There has been 7 applications for residential 
development received. This includes 1 full 
application and 1 reserved matters 
application each for a single dwelling. The 
remaining 5 were S73 applications i.e. 
applications to vary a previous permission.  
 
A total of 12 applications have been approved 
for residential development for a range of  
application types such as Outline, Full and 
Reserved matters and 3 for S73 applications.  

 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Two – Building a Strong Sustainable Local Economy. 
Planning & Development 

EEP 15 Provide an efficient Planning service that supports business investment in Halton 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

60% major determined within 13 weeks (or agreed 

extension) 

 

 80% - 8 of 10 Applications therefore above 
target 

70% minor application determined in 8 weeks (or 

agreed extension) 

 

 78.5% - 11 of 14 Applications therefore above 
target 

70% other application determined in 8 weeks (or 

agreed extension) 
 98.6% - 71 of 72 Applications therefore above 

target 

Page 117



  

 

Corporate Priority Priority Five - Working Towards a Greener Future 
Planning & Development 

EEP 16 Provide improvements to Biodiversity 

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

The amount of BNG secured as part of planning 

applications.  
Applications have been received that are 
expected to be liable for BNG but none yet 
determined 

 
 
 
 

Highways & Transportation, Logistics & Transport Management 

 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Four - Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most in Need. 
Logistics 

EEP 17 Deliver travel choices that are safe, inclusive, affordable, and low carbon 

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Percentage number of public transport journeys 

on-time at intermediate timing points 

Baseline 87% 

Target 95% 

 

 
Bus punctuality/Reliability is a fundamental 
element of making the public transport 
attractive to users and potential users. The Q1 
performance result stands at 85.82% of 
journeys operating within the bus 
punctuality/ reliability guidelines of more 
than 1 minute early or 5 minutes late. 
Improvement is required and liaison with bus 
operators will continue to identify a way 
forward for improvement.  

Percentage number of public transport journeys 

departing the terminus on-time 

Baseline 96% 

Target 97% 

 

 
Bus punctuality/Reliability is a fundamental 
element of making the public transport 
attractive to users and potential users. The Q1 
performance result stands at 85.71% of 
journeys operating within the bus 
punctuality/ reliability guidelines of more 
than 1 minute early or 5 minutes late. 
Improvement is required and liaison with bus 
operators will continue to identify a way 
forward for improvement. 

 
 
 

Page 118



  

Corporate Priority Priority Four - Tackling Inequality and Helping Those Who Are Most in Need. 
Logistics 

EEP 19 Maintain Corporate Fleet Availability   

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Number of vehicle maintenance & safety 

inspections completed within the statutory 

timeframe. 

 

 

This is a mandatory requirement under the 
conditions attached to the Council’s 
Operator’s Licence under section 22 of the 
Goods Vehicles (Licencing of Operators) Act 
1995. 100% achieved in reporting period. 
 

Number of litres of diesel consumed. 

 

 

 

 

Used to monitor and calculate carbon output 
from the Council’s operational vehicle fleet. 
95642.8 litres consumed in reporting period. 

Number of Community Meals delivered within 

the two hour timeframe.  

 

 

9497 hot and cold meals delivered to 
vulnerable adults in reporting period. 

Number of student passenger journeys 

 
 

28,126, calculated on actual school days in 
period . 

Number of school transport routes 
 

158 during period. 

Cost of externally contracted school transport 
 

Cost for period: £711,479.64. 

 
 

Corporate Priority Priority One - Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence. 
Logistics 

EEP 20 Deliver travel choices that are safe, inclusive, affordable, and low carbon. 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Number of referrals for travel training and 

number of successful uptakes from the referrals.  
18 referrals during the reporting period with 8 
individuals (44.4%) taking up the travel training 
offer. 
 

Number of students who engage in group 

classroom and outdoor tailored practical 

sessions. 

 39 individuals have taken part in weekly 
classroom based sessions, 9 have taken part in 
weekly outdoor practical group sessions and 
26 individuals have taken part in 1-2-1 ITT 
sessions in the same time frame. 
 

 

Page 119



  

 

Corporate Priority Priority Five - Working Towards a Greener Future 
Highways 

EEP 21 Deliver travel choices that are safe, inclusive, affordable, and low carbon  

 
 

 
 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Five - Working Towards a Greener Future 
Highways 

EEP 22 Deliver travel choices that are safe, inclusive, affordable, and low carbon 

 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Securing and Investing funding in highway 

maintenance to protect the asset.  
Capital funding secured via 5 year 
CRSTS1  allocation, currently in Year 3. 
Available Revenue funding is being used where 
absolutely necessary only to help offset wider 
Corporate finance overspends. 

Total length of highway asset 

 
 606 km of roads and 838km of footpaths, 

therefore approx. 1400km network 

Length of maintenance schemes implemented / 
delivered. 

 26.871km (53742 sqm of footway at 2m width) 

Value of insurance claims for highways defects 

 

 

 

We currently have 5 claims for April to June 
2024 with a total reserve of £20,868. We have 
made one payment of £880 for vehicle 
damage. 
 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Securing and Investing funding in Travel schemes  Remainder of ATF3 currently under 
construction, funding secured. LCWIP Astmoor 
to Daresbury is now substantially complete, 
funding secured.  Runcorn Busway Phases 4 & 
5 are through LCR Gateway 3 with indicatively 
secured funding, working towards submission 
in December for LCR Gateway 4 to fully secure 
funding. East Runcorn Connectivity Active 
Travel Routes have indicatively secured 
funding, aiming for Gateway 4 in Q3. 
 

Length of schemes implemented / delivered.  3.373km (LCWIP 2.655km, ATF3 0.718km) 
 

Page 120



  

Number of bridges and structures maintained 

 

 

 SJB under deck painting works ongoing and 
due to complete in Q2. 
Abutment works completed for the new 
replacement Ironbridge at Spike Island, Bridge 
due to be installed Q2. 

Number of street lights maintained  21000 street lights in total across the Borough 

 
 

Corporate Priority Priority One – Improving Health, Promoting Wellbeing and Supporting Greater 
Independence 
Traffic 

EEP 23 Deliver travel choices that are safe, inclusive, affordable, and low carbon 

 

Milestone 
Progress 

Q1 
Supporting Commentary 

Programme of education relating to road safety 

 
 In Q1 the Road Safety Team undertook the 

following: 
Show you care weekly campaigns outside 
schools  X 4  
Riverside College Drink Drive/bike safety X 2 
Junior Safety Officer Visits  X 31 
Child Safety/in car safety X 2  ( Tesco & Halton 
Lea) 
Drug/Drink Drive X 2 
Secondary School Assemblies X 2 
Stepping Out  Pedestrian Training x 13 
Rec Yr 1 YR 2  Assemblies x  8     
YR 5 6 Speed awareness sessions x 4 

Safety cameras and speed indication devices 

 
 

Asked CRSG for definitive answer on number 
of functioning fixed cameras and mobile 
camera sites in the Borough. Yet to get a 
response. 
Two new mobile camera sites are being 
commissioned at identified collision hotspots. 
Civils works are complete, just awaiting 
signage. In Halton there are currently 16 SiDs 
and 24 speed activated signs. Some SAS are 
coming to the end of their lifespan and will 
require replacing in near future. 

Analysis of collision sites 

 
 Analysis is ongoing and a couple of sites 

already identified and accident remedial 
measures undertaken (see above – mobile 
camera sites). 

Road safety audits for new schemes  N/A, none completed, none required. 

Number of school crossing patrols  Number of school crossing patrols :- 
21 patrols 
1 mobile & 1 casual 

Page 121



  

Number of bike-ability training sessions delivered  754 pupils attended Bikeability sessions in 
Halton in Q1 

Number of safety cameras 
 

Asked CRSG for definitive answer on number 
of functioning fixed cameras and mobile 
camera sites in the Borough. Yet to get a 
response. 

 
 
 
 
 

Waste, Open Spaces, Cemetries & Crematoriums 

 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Five – Working Towards a Greener Future 
Environment Services 

EEP 30 Provide a clean, safe, and attractive environment 

 
 

Milestone: Training to be delivered to all 

managers by June 2024 to ensure that they are 

able to carry out and record quality and 

inspections to the required standard. 

 

Ensure that, as a minimum, inspections are 
carried out bi-monthly throughout the year with 
results uploaded to the Association for Public 
Service Excellence (APSE) for benchmarking 
purposes. 

Progress 
Q1 

Supporting Commentary 

Quality Standard Scores - reported Annually to 

the relevant PPB. 
 

 

Training delivered to HBC Environment 
Services Managers on 2nd May 2024 by 
APSE Associate.  HBC data imported into 
LAMS system in June 2024 and User 
Acceptance Testing carried out June and 
July by Environment Services Compliance 
Officer. 
  
 
 
42 individual site inspections have been 
issued to inspectors in August for 
completion and submission to APSE before 
30th September (Q2). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



  

 

Corporate Priority Priority Five – Working Towards a Greener Future 
Environment Services 

EEP 31 Safety within Cemetries & Crematoria 

 
 

Milestone: Carry out planned equipment and 
safety inspections at playgrounds and Multi-Use 
Games Areas (MUGAs) in the Council’s parks 
and public open spaces.  
 

Progress 
Q1 

Supporting Commentary 

% of playgrounds, play equipment and MUGAs 
inspected in accordance with planned safety 
inspection schedules 
 

 The Division’s playground maintenance 
team maintain, repair, inspect and cleanse 
42 Playgrounds, 37 MUGAs and 5 climbing 
boulders. 
 
In Q1, a total of 1,020 inspections were 
carried out. This is against a scheduled 
target of 960. The completion rate is over 
100% and is due to carrying out further 
inspections when revisiting sites to 
complete repairs on equipment. 

 
 
 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Five – Working Towards a Greener Future 
Environment Services 

EEP 32 
Increase the Council’s recycling rate and reduce the amount of waste produced 
per household 

 
 

Milestone: Quarterly updates on progress and 
annual performance data statistics to be 
reported to the relevant PPB by 31st March 
2025. 

Progress 
Q1 

Supporting Commentary 

Kgs of waste produced per household and % of 

waste recycled - reported Annually to the 

relevant PPB. 

 
Waste production is subject to season 
variation. This is an estimated figure, but it 
does show that household waste levels per 
household in Q1 (158.06kgs) are slightly 
higher than those in Q1 in the previous 
year (153.08kgs). 
 
 
This is an estimated figure, but it does 
show that recycling levels in Q1 (40.4%) 
are slightly higher than in Q1 in the 
previous year (39.8%).    

 

Page 123



  

 
 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Five – Working Towards a Greener Future 
Environment Services 

EEP 33 Development plans for council’s Cemetries & Crematoria 

 
 
 

Milestone: To develop plans for the future 
provision of the Council’s Cemeteries and 
Crematoria 

Progress 
Q1 

Supporting Commentary 

Developing a plan for replacing the current 
crematorium with an improved new facility, in a 
new location, to meet future regulations and 
service demands. As well as providing a facility 
which can be adapted for additional offers to 
produce a financially sustainable business. 

 Project is underway to secure a suitable 
site and begin a feasibility study to define 
project parameters. An outline project 
programme will be developed for Q2. 

Identify a future cemetery site for Runcorn. The 
existing Runcorn Cemetery extension has capacity 
for possibly up to 10 further years and, as such, a 
new suitable cemetery site is required. 

 
A working group will be set up to lead on 
identifying possible sites for Q2 onwards. 

 
 
 

Corporate Priority Priority Five – Working Towards a Greener Future 
Environment Services 

EEP 34 Safety within Cemetries & Crematoria 

 
 

Milestone: Ensure memorial safety across the 
Council’s 4 cemetery sites is carried out and 
properly recorded  

Progress 
Q1 

Supporting Commentary 

Memorials affected by adjacent burial 
excavations to be inspected and actions recorded 
on burial forms/cemeteries database system.  
 
Progress integration of ALLOY asset management 
system to record memorial safety testing (5 year 
rolling programme to fully survey). 

 
Method of recording and checking to be 
established by Q2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



  

Corporate Priority Priority Five – Working Towards a Greener Future 
Environment Services 

EEP 34 Increase standards of service within Cemetries & Crematoria 

 
 

Milestone: Ensure high standard of service is 
maintained throughout the cemeteries; ensuring 
good upkeep. 

Progress 
Q1 

Supporting Commentary 

The general quality of cemetery grounds will be 
assessed and scored for quality, for grass cutting, 
weed control and overall management using the 
Assocciation for Public Service Excellence (APSE) 
Land Audit Management System (LAMS) system 
scoring.  
 

 Staff currently being trained on using the 
LAMS system and system testing is 
underway. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



  

4.0 Financial Statements 

 
 
ECONOMY ENTERPRISE & PROPERTY DEPARTMENT 
 
Revenue Operational Budget at 31 July  2024 
 

 
 
 
 

Comments on the above figures 
 
Finance communicates with the department on a regular basis to manage and analyse 
spending, identifying potential savings that could support current and future priorities. In an 
era of constrained budgets, achieving these goals is essential. The above report forecasts that 
the department will be under budget by £0.025m at year-end. 

Annual 

Budget

Budget to 

Date

Actual 

Spend

Variance 

(Overspend)

Forecast 

Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Employees 4,342 1,812 1,709 103 308

Agency - covering vacancies 0 0 102 (102) (305)

Agency - in addition to establishment 0 0 0 0 0

Repairs & Mainenance 1,689 700 741 (41) (117)

Premises 146 119 119 0 0

Energy & Water Costs 1,221 281 267 14 62

NNDR 659 633 623 10 10

Rents 163 0 0 0 0

Economic Regeneration Activities 21 0 0 0 0

Security 544 173 172 1 4

Supplies & Services 482 119 106 13 40

Supplies & Services - Grant 1,074 169 169 0 0

Grants to Voluntary Organisations 67 44 44 0 0

Capital Finance 0 0 0 0

Transfer to Reserves 165 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 10,573 4,050 4,052 (2) 2

Income

Fees & Charges Income -721 -346 -361 15 46

Rent - Commercial Properties -871 -196 -196 0 0

Rent - Investment Properties -38 -14 -14 0 0

Government Grant -1,531 -753 -753 0 0

Reimbursements & Other Grant Income -306 -172 -170 (2) (6)

Schools SLA Income -234 -209 -192 (17) (17)

Recharges to Capital -348 -163 -163 0 0

Transfer from Reserves -393 -384 -384 0 0

Total Income -4,442 -2,237 -2,233 (4) 23

Net Operational Expenditure 6,131 1,813 1,819 (6) 25

Recharges

Premises Support 2,074 691 691 0 0

Transport 30 10 10 0 0

Central Support 1,947 649 649 0 0

Asset Rental Support 4 0 0 0 0

HBC Support Costs Income -7,927 -2,642 -2,642 0 0

Net Total Recharges -3,872 -1,292 -1,292 0 0

Net Departmental Expenditure 2,259 521 527 (6) 25

Page 126



  

 
 
Supporting Information 
 
The department consists of 139fte, of which 69fte are externally funded, with a staff 
turnover savings target of £0.126m. The employee figures in this report incorporate the 
projected pay award for 24/25.  
Through diligent account monitoring, the success of utilising grant and external funding to 
alleviate pressure on the core budget is evident in employee expenses. Specific projects 
have been identified, and staff time has been allocated accordingly. Ensuring at all times that 
we are compliance with the grant conditions. This approach will continue throughout the 
year. 
 
To fulfil statutory and contractual obligations and support the borough’s regeneration, 
maintaining a complete staff establishment is essential. However, the challenge of filling 
surveyor and project manager roles, even with a market supplement, has resulted in a lack 
of suitable candidates. Consequently, the engagement of agency personnel has been 
necessary, anticipated to cost £300,000 this financial year. Without these personnel, the 
borough’s regeneration efforts would be hindered, potentially leading to a loss of business 
rates and council tax. 
The recruitment of the agency staff has led to an increase in commercial rental income, as it 
has enabled the completion of pending rent reviews.  
 
Mangers have asked to identify and implement measures to reduce unnecessary spending, 
whilst also ensuring the needs of the service are met leading to the department’s projecting  
a positive variance amounting to £0.040m within supplies and services.  
 
A recent exercise was conducted to determine the costs associated with empty properties 
within the Borough.  Consequently a new cost centre was established to monitor these 
expenses.  In addition to the loss of rental income whilst the properties remain vacant, the 
Council incur additional costs for utilities, repairs, and maintenance.  As of the end of July, 
the total costs related to these properties amount to £0.143m. To reduce the expenses 
actions need to be taken to accelerate the leasing or explore temporary uses for properties, 
such as short-term rentals or community projects, which will generate some income and 
reduce costs. 
 
The Department highlighted the necessity of expert advice to advance regeneration projects. 
Additionally, the change in Government highlighted the need for an up-to-date Housing 
Strategy for the Borough. Following a meeting with the Director of Economy, Enterprise, and 
Property, it was decided to use the Department’s reserves to cover these one-off costs. 
Seeking external advice will assist with future grant funding requests from the LCR and 
Government, and enable the department to fulfil its obligations regarding the borough’s 
regeneration strategy. 
 
Although the Council have seen a significant increase in energy costs over the last few years, 
it is anticipated that costs this financial year will be £0.163m lower than in 2023/24, 
representing a decrease of over 13%. 
 The department is forecasting that it will be £0.062m under budget by year-end. Since 
contract prices are fixed until March 2025, projections are based on the 2023/24 usage using 
the unit price quoted by the supplier. However, if usage increases as more staff return to the 
office, these prices might rise. 
 
The Repairs and Maintenance program is continually being reviewed to ensure it remains in 
budget. This financial year presents a challenge as no inflation adjustment was factored into 
the 2024/25 approved budget, and it was further reduced by 10%.  It is projected that the 
expenditure will exceed the budget by £0.117m at the end of the year. 

Page 127



  

This projection is based on the 2023/24 expenses and does not take into account the 6% 
inflation in general building materials over the past year, as  reported by BCIS. 
Additionally, the department has conducted an exercise to determine which expenditures 
are capital in nature, and these have now been reclassified within the capital program. 
Similar to previous years, the school cleaning service’s level agreement (SLA) is not meeting 
its financial targets due to the employment of agency for covering absences and leave, as 
well as the anticipated pay award.  A reassessment of the SLA charges is in progress in 
preparation for the forthcoming budget year. Additionally, the demand for the service is 
declining as more schools transition to Academies. 
 
Approved 2024/25 Savings 

 
Please see for details of progress towards achieving budget efficiency savings agreed by 
Council in February 2023. 
 

Ref. Service 
Area 

Net 
Budget 
£’000 

Description of 
Saving 

Proposal 

Savings Value Current 
Progress 

Comments 

24/25 
£’000 

25/26 
£’000 

EEP4 Cleaning 
Services – 
Council 
Buildings 

580 Review 
cleaning 
arrangements, 
with a focus 
on only 
emptying bins 
and cleaning 
toilets daily.  

100 0 
 

 

A review of the 
cleaning service 
is underway 
with some 
positions 
removed from 
the structure. 
The full savings 
will not be 
achieved until 
the 
accommodation  
is complete. 

EEP2 Caretaking 
& Security 
Services 

641 A review and 
restructuring 
of caretaking 
arrangements. 

52 0  

 
 
 
 
 

Following 
advice from HR 
the restructure 
will not take 
place until the 
final quarter of 
the year. 
 

Total Economy, Enterprise & Property 
Department 

152 0   

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



  

Planning, Provision and Transportation Department 
 

Revenue Budget as at 31st July 2024 
 

 
 

Comments on the above figures 
 
Financial Position 
 
The current position for the PPT department is £0.046m under budget with a projected full financial 
year outturn of £0.053m over the approved budget. 

 
Supporting Information 
 
As in previous years budget holders are working closing with the Finance Officers to ensure a 
balanced budget is achieved.  Capital funding is being prioritised where possible in order to relieve 
pressure on the revenue budgets. 
 

Annual 

Budget

Budget to 

Date

Actual 

Spend

Variance 

(Overspend)

Forecast 

Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Employees 5,409 1,621 1,571 50 151

Agency - covering vacancies 110 37 55 (18) (54)

Agency - in addition to establishment 24 7 23 (16) (48)

Efficiency Savings -250 0 0 0 (150)

Premises 193 89 73 16 47

Hired & Contracted Services 59 0 37 (37) (158)

Supplies & Services 144 155 197 (42) (126)

Street Lighting 1,617 92 92 0 0

Highways Maintenance - Routine & Reactive 1,772 269 294 (25) (74)

Highways Maintenance - Programmed Works 989 155 89 66 199

Fleet Transport 1,455 449 424 25 75

Bus Support - Halton Hopper Tickets 23 17 14 3 9

Bus Support 498 252 252 0 0

Capital Financing 0 0 0 0 0

Grants to Voluntary Organisations 31 31 31 0 0

NRA Levy 74 0 0 0 2

LCR Levy 1,059 265 265 0 0

Contribution to Reserves 359 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 13,566 3,439 3,417 22 (127)

Income

Sales & Rents Income -96 -60 -59 (1) (2)

Planning Fees -826 -310 -216 (94) (282)

Building Control Fees -246 -83 -68 (15) (44)

Other Fees & Charges -908 -351 -414 63 189

Grants & Reimbursements -153 -52 -52 0 0

Government Grant Income -111 -111 -111 0 0

Halton Hopper Income -24 -4 -1 (3) (9)

Recharge to Capital -129 -36 -36 0 0

LCR Levy Reimbursement -1,059 -265 -265 0 0

Contribution from Reserves -174 -174 -174 0 0

Total Income -3,726 -1,446 -1,396 (50) (148)

Net Operational Expenditure 9,840 1,993 2,021 (28) (275)

Recharges

Premises Support 560 187 187 0 0

Transport 749 272 289 (17) (52)

Central Support 1,534 511 511 0 0

Asset Rental Support 851 0 0 0 0

HBC Support Costs Income -5,129 -1,713 -1,804 91 274

Net Total Recharges -1,435 -743 -817 74 222

Net Departmental Expenditure 8,405 1,250 1,204 46 (53)

Page 129



  

Employee expenditure is predicted to be under budget at the end of the financial year due to a more 
accurate projection regarding current vacant posts and when they are likely to be filled.  There is 
also expected to be a small saving on staffing costs due to Logistics reducing the number of casual 
drivers and moving to contracted staff instead.  There are 3 members of agency staff which are now 
shown separately from employee costs. 
Efficiency savings for PPT are not expected to be met and more information is provided about this 
further down the report. 
 
Supplies and services and contracted services are projected to be over budget as in previous years 
due to survey costs and plans that will be required in the Planning division.  Halton also has a contract 
with MEAS (Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service) which is hosted by Sefton LA.  This is used 
to provide Halton with advice in relation to ecology, waste, environmental impact assessments and 
local plans.  Although the expenditure on the contract is over the allocated budget, it would cost 
Halton considerably more to provide this advice in house.  Legal fees are also projected to be over 
budget due to external legal advice being required in the Planning section.  £0.109m of the 
overspend against supplies and services is in relation to software licences and maintenance of 
systems required but there is no budget available. 
 
Street lighting forecast expenditure is projected to come in on budget over the course of the financial 
year.  Various actions have been taken to decrease the amount of power being used such as lights 
being turned off 12am – 6am on some routes and over 80% of HBC owned street lighting stock of 
around 20,500 columns have been upgraded to LED.  This is a volatile budget and could change as 
we draw into the dark and wintry months. For the purpose of this report the projected figure is based 
on the previous financial years outturn. 
 
Highways maintenance budgets are projected to be slightly under budget.  Capital is again being 
utilised where appropriate.  The report is again broken down into routine and reactive schemes and 
programmed works so the various areas can be looked at in more detail. Forecast costs for routine 
maintenance being based on the programme of works for the year whilst reactive maintenance is 
an average of costs over the last three years. 
 
Fleet transport has seen an increase in costs across fuel and parts which reflects the projected 
outturn and was also evidenced in the 23/24 financial year.  This then has a knock-on effect to the 
costs being recharged out to the other areas of the authority.  Every effort is being made to prolong 
fleet replacements but this also has a negative impact on the cost of repairs as they then increase.   
 
Planning income is again projected to be under achieved. Following on from the 23/24 financial year 
there is a downturn in the number of applications being received.  Although, Government increased 
planning fees rates towards the end of last year this has not offset the lack of large development 
agreements the Council has had in previous years.  For the purpose of this forecast it was decided 
to use the income achieved from last year but with a slight increase for inflation. 
 
As in previous years Building Control income is currently under its income target and this is being 
monitored closely. 
Fees and charges income is projected to exceed it’s income target based on the last few financial 
years.  This is an ever changing area as it is fully dependent on the amount of permit applications etc 
that is received, however at the moment it is in line with the previous report projections. 
 
Approved 2024/25 Savings 
 
Savings that were put forward for 2024/25 can be seen in Appendix A at the end of this report 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



  

Risks/Opportunities 
 
Across the whole department inflation has significantly driven costs up and every division is bearing 
the cost of this. Budgets have also been top sliced in order to help balance the overall council 
budgets. The Highways / Traffic and Logistics divisions are seeing the largest impact of this when 
purchasing materials / fuel / parts for vehicles etc. 
 
Capital Programme 2024/25 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Scheme Detail

2024/25 

Original 

Allocation

2024/25 

Revised 

Allocation Q1 Spend Q2 Spend Q3 Spend Q4 Spend Total Spend

Allocation 

remaining

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Environment & Regeneration Directorate

Policy, Planning & Transportation Dept

Bridge and Highway Maintenance 0.0 2,265.6 280.8 280.8 1,984.8

Runcorn Busway 0.0 0.0 227.4 227.4 -227.4

ATF3 Murdishaw to Whitehouse 0.0 3,000.0 175.3 175.3 2,824.7

ATF4 Widnes Town Centre Accessibility 0.0 114.5 0.0 0.0 114.5

A56 Reconstruction (Delph Lane) 0.0 943.7 351.1 351.1 592.6

Dukesfield ATL (Waterloo Bridge) 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.1 -1.1

LCWIP Phase 2 Daresbury 0.0 3,861.7 629.3 629.3 3,232.4

Additional Pothole Funding 0.0 429.1 0.0 0.0 429.1

CRSTS 5,288.6 5,288.6 1,656.0 1,656.0 3,632.6

Street Lighting - Structural Maintenance 1,025.6 1,025.6 0.0 0.0 1,025.6

Street Lighting - Upgrades 969.4 969.4 0.0 0.0 969.4

East Runcorn Connectivity 5,851.7 5,851.7 452.5 452.5 5,399.1

Risk Management 597.8 597.8 4.9 4.9 592.9

Fleet Replacements 4,927.4 4,927.4 1,081.8 1,081.8 3,845.6

Total PPT 18,660.4 29,275.0 4,860.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,860.2 24,414.8

Page 131



  

COMMUNITY AND GREENSPACES DEPARTMENT   
 

Revenue Budget as at 31st July 2024 
 

 
 
 
Comments on the above figures 
 
The net Departmental Expenditure is forecast to be £0.324m under budget at the end of the 
2024/25 financial year.  
 
Spend on employees is forecasted to be £1.146m under the annual budget. A restructure is 
taking place within the Community Safety, Leisure and within the Stadium and Catering 
Division, in order to facilitate these restructures, posts have been held vacant on a 
temporary basis, leading to a reduction in costs.  There have also been difficulties recruiting 
to certain roles due to a lack of qualified applicants, which has led to some posts being 
vacant for longer than planned. The figure is offset from an expected agency spend of 
£0.363m. 

Annual 

Budget

Budget to 

Date

Actual 

Spend

Variance 

(Overspend)

Forecast 

Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Employees 17,358 3,700 3,457 243 1,146

Agency - covering vacancies 0 0 66 (66) (262)

Agency - in addition to establishment 0 0 50 (50) (101)

Premises 3,521 1,070 1,089 (19) (71)

Supplies & Services 1,585 380 401 (21) (80)

Hired & Contracted Services 510 83 83 0 0

Book Fund 128 53 53 0 0

Food Provision 388 115 108 7 36

School Meals Food 2,083 320 332 (12) (42)

Transport 117 10 11 (1) (9)

Agency Costs 441 100 148 (48) (94)

Other Expenditure 0 0 41 (41) (50)

Waste Disposal Contracts 7,002 0 0 0 255

Grants to Voluntary Organisations 64 16 12 4 35

Grant to Norton Priory 172 29 87 (58) 0

Total Expenditure 33,369 5,876 5,938 (62) 763

Income

Sales Income -1,373 -422 -422 0 (118)

Fees & Charges Income -5,470 -1,952 -1,942 (10) (50)

Rental Income -235 -39 -71 32 26

Markets Income -910 -152 -208 56 (79)

Government Grant Income -643 -482 -482 0 0

Reimbursements & Other Grant Income -703 -467 -467 0 0

School SLA Income -1,313 -219 -250 31 (10)

School Meals Income -3,598 -600 -562 (38) (213)

Internal Fees Income -286 -48 -15 (33) 61

Capital Salaries -173 -29 -14 (15) (5)

Transfers from Reserves -14 -14 -14 0 0

Total Income -14,718 -4,424 -4,447 23 (388)

Net Operational Expenditure 18,651 1,452 1,491 (39) 375

Recharges

Premises Support 1,675 279 279 0 0

Transport 2,257 376 214 162 (51)

Central Support 3,592 599 599 0 0

Asset Rental Support 199 33 33 0 0

HBC Support Costs Income -843 -141 -141 0 0

Net Total Recharges 6,880 1,146 984 162 (51)

Net Departmental Expenditure 25,531 2,598 2,475 123 324

Page 132



  

Spend on premises costs is forecast to be £0.071m over the approved budget in 2024/25, 
the new leisure centre is now expected to hand over within this financial year and will begin 
to incur costs within 24/25. The original plans were for the leisure centre to utilise the solar 
farm however the extension required to provide energy to the leisure centre has only 
recently been submitted for planning, so there is a potential budget pressure next year as 
the energy will have to be provided elsewhere until the solar farm extension is functioning. 
 
Supplies and Services is showing a forecast overspend of £0.080m which is a budget 
pressure throughout the Department and is primarily caused by inflationary cost increases of 
key goods and services over recent years 
Waste Disposal Contract costs are forecasted to achieve £0.255m under the approved 
budget during 2024/25.  Costs are likely to increase slightly from 2023/24, however invoices 
are not received until later in the financial year so it is difficult to fully indicate what the 
outturn position will be at this stage. 
 
Sales, Fees & Charges, and Markets Income are expected to be below the income target 
within 2024/25, these are offset against reductions in forecasted expenditure for the year in 
particular the staffing costs, as the staff are not in place to generate the income, however 
the full impact of changes of this nature will be realised following the cessation of the School 
Meals service as this budget pressure absorbs any underspend generated.  
 
Budget Savings 
 

COMMUNITY AND GREENSPACES DEPARTMENT  
Capital Programme 2024/25 

 
Ref. Service 

Area 
Net 

Budget 
£’000 

Description of 
Saving Proposal 

Savings Value Current 
Progress 

Comments 

24/25 
£’000 

25/26 
£’000 

COMM3 Sport & 
Recreation 

471 Restructuring the 
roles and 
responsibilities 
of the Sports 
Development 
Team 

36 
 

0 
 

 

Restructure is 
currently 
underway 

COMM5 Stadium & 
Catering 
Services – 
School 
Meals 
 
 

12 Cease to deliver 
the school meals 
service, which 
has made 
significant losses 
of over £200,000 
for a number of 
years and is 
forecast to make 
a similar loss by 
year-end. Work 
would be 
undertaken with 
schools over the 
next two years to 
support them to 
secure an 
alternative 
means of 
delivery, whether 
in-house or via 
an external 
provider. 

0 
 
 

12 
 
 
 
 

 

The cessation of 
the service is 
underway with 
the majority of 
schools ending 
their contracts by 
the end of the 
calendar year.  

Total Community & Environment Department 36 12   

 

Page 133



  

5.0 Application of Symbols 

 

 
 

 

Symbols are used in the following manner: 

Progress Symbols 

Symbol Objective Performance Indicator 

Green  

Indicates that the objective is 
on course to be achieved 
within the appropriate 
timeframe. 

Indicates that the annual target 
is on course to be achieved. 

Amber  

Indicates that it is uncertain or 
too early to say at this stage 
whether the 
milestone/objective will be 
achieved within the 
appropriate timeframe. 

Indicates that it is uncertain or 
too early to say at this stage 
whether the annual target is on 
course to be achieved 

Red  

Indicates that it is highly likely 
or certain that the objective 
will not be achieved within the 
appropriate timeframe. 

Indicates that the target will not 
be achieved unless there is an 
intervention or remedial action 
taken. 

 

Direction of Travel Indicator 

Green 
 

Indicates that performance is better as compared to the same 
period last year. 

Amber 
 

Indicates that performance is the same as compared to the same 
period last year. 

Red 
 

Indicates that performance is worse as compared to the same 
period last year. 

N / A N / A 
Indicates that the measure cannot be compared to the same 
period last year. 

 

 

Page 134



  

 

Page 135


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Public Question Time
	4 Executive Board Minutes
	Exec Board Minutes Extracts

	5 Annual Report 2023/24
	Annual Report 2023-24

	6a Regeneration in Halton
	6b Town Deal Programme Update
	Appendix 1.pdf
	Slide 1:   Runcorn Town Deal – pictorial projects update Board meeting Thursday 18 July 2024, Runcorn Town Hall   
	Slide 2: Brindley Theatre Enhancement –   
	Slide 3: Brindley Theatre Enhancement –   
	Slide 4: High Street Connectivity – St Paul’s Mews  
	Slide 5: High Street Connectivity – High Street public realm 
	Slide 6: Health and Education Hub  -  
	Slide 7: Creative and Digital Skills Centre – 71 High Street 
	Slide 8:  Creative and Digital Skills Centre – 57 59 and 63 65 High Street  
	Slide 9: Town Centre New Homes – High Street 
	Slide 10: High Street Connectivity – Temple New Hall Peace Garden 
	Slide 11: High Street Connectivity – Temple New Hall Peace Garden 
	Slide 12: Town Centre New Homes – Rutland Street area 
	Slide 13: High Street Connectivity – Street Art 
	Slide 14: Unlock Runcorn – civils, landscaping 
	Slide 15: Unlock Runcorn – trip boat, visitor café point, events programme 
	Slide 16: Runcorn Station Quarter – Enterprise Facility  


	6c Houses in Multiple Occupation and the Private rental sector - update
	6d Stray Dog Collection and Kennelling Service
	6e Control of Fly Posting and Banner Advertisements
	7a Performance Management Report for Quarter 4 of 2023/24
	EUR PPB Q4 23-24 Final

	7b Performance Management Report for Quarter 1 of 2024/25
	EUR PPB Q1 2024




